

MASTERARBEIT

The Cosmological Constant as a Thermodynamic Variable in 2d Dilaton Gravity

Ausgeführt am Institut für Theoretische Physik der Technischen Universität Wien

unter der Anleitung von Daniel Grumiller

 durch

Jakob Salzer

Beheimgasse 28/10 1170 Wien

Wien, 30.10.2013

TU UB

Die approbierte Originalversion dieser Diplom-/ Masterarbeit ist in der Hauptbibliothek der Technischen Universität Wien aufgestellt und zugänglich.

The approved original version of this diploma or master thesis is available at the main library of the Vienna University of Technology.

Universitätsbibliothek

http://www.ub.tuwien.ac.at

http://www.ub.tuwien.ac.at/eng

Ich erkläre hiermit, dass ich die eingereichte Masterarbeit selbstständig verfasst habe und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt wurden. Weiters versichere ich, dass ich diese Masterarbeit bisher weder im In- noch im Ausland in irgendeiner Form als Prüfungsarbeit vorgelegt habe.

Wien, 30.10.2013

Jakob Salzer

Acknowledgements

I take this opportunity to express my thanks to all the people that supported me throughout the last months.

First and foremost I want to thank my supervisor Daniel Grumiller for having an open door for all questions even in stressful times and for providing an amicable atmosphere for work and discussion.

Special thanks goes to Robert McNees from Loyola University, Chicago, whose contributions to this work were essential, for providing new ideas whenever I felt I was at a dead end.

Furthermore, I want to thank the guys from the third floor (Wolfgang Riedler and Friedrich Schöller) for pleasantly diverting discussions.

I am deeply grateful to my family, that has encouraged, guided and supported me in good and bad times for a quarter of a century now.

Last but not least I want to thank my girlfriend Lisa for enduring my changing moods during the writing of this thesis and cheering me up when I got stuck.

Thanks!

The Cosmological Constant as a Thermodynamical Variable in 2d Dilaton Gravity

Jakob Salzer

ABSTRACT: In this thesis black hole thermodynamics with a varying cosmological constant is studied in two dimensional dilaton gravity. In the past, various mechanisms for a dynamical cosmological constant were proposed. If black hole thermodynamics is studied in the presence of a varying cosmological constant Λ the first law of black hole thermodynamics must take this into account by acquiring an additional term that is due to a change in A. This additional term amounts to a V dP term, since the cosmological constant can be regarded as negative pressure and its thermodynamically conjugate variable as a negative black hole volume. Here, the above is studied in the framework of 2d dilaton gravity. Black hole thermodynamics is obtained from the semi-classical approximation of the Euclidean path integral. This requires a well-defined action principle for 2d dilaton gravity with a varying cosmological constant. Following a review of black holes and black hole thermodynamics the Henneaux–Teitelboim mechanism for a varying cosmological constant is presented, and previous results regarding black hole thermodynamics with the cosmological constant as a thermodynamic variable are discussed. Subsequently, notion and importance of a well-defined variational principe are clarified. The framework of 2d dilaton gravity is introduced and several motivations for the study of it are discussed. The approach of [68] to black hole thermodynamics in dilaton gravity is reviewed. Finally, a novel action principle for 2d dilaton gravity with a variable cosmological constant is presented. The thermodynamic variable conjugate to Λ is shown to coincide with the volume of a 2d dilaton black hole presented in [62]. Previous results are reproduced for higher dimensional black holes, that can be attained from 2d dilaton gravity (e.g. Schwarzschild, BTZ).

Contents

1	Intr	roducti	ion	1	
2	Black Hole Solutions			4	
	2.1	The S	chwarzschild Solution	4	
	2.2	Confo	rmal Infinity and Black Holes	6	
	2.3	Horizo	ons and the No-Hair Theorem	7	
	2.4	The K	Ierr–Newman family	8	
3	Black Hole Thermodynamics				
	3.1	The A	rea Theorem (The Second law of black hole mechanics)	11	
	3.2	The F	our Laws of Black Hole Mechanics	12	
		3.2.1	Surface Gravity and the Zeroth Law	12	
		3.2.2	The First Law	14	
		3.2.3	The Third Law	16	
	3.3	Gener	alized Second Law and Hawking Radiation	17	
	3.4	The E	uclidean Path Integral and Black Hole Thermodynamics	21	
4	The	he cosmological constant			
	4.1	The cosmological constant problem			
	4.2	A Cha	anging Cosmological Constant	26	
		4.2.1	The Cosmological Constant as a Thermodynamic Variable	28	
5	The Variational Principle and Boundary Terms				
	5.1	Gibbons–Hawking–York boundary term			
	5.2	Holog	raphic counterterms	39	
		5.2.1	Hamilton–Jacobi counterterm: a toy example	39	
		5.2.2	The general framework	40	
6	Dilaton Gravity				
	6.1	Three	Different Ways to Dilaton Gravity	42	
		6.1.1	Dilaton Gravity as the limit of $2 + \epsilon$ dimensional gravity	42	
		6.1.2	Dilaton Gravity and String Theory	44	
		6.1.3	Dilaton Gravity as Spherically Reduced Einstein Gravity	45	
	6.2	5.2 Dilaton Thermodynamics			
		6.2.1	The correct action	46	
		6.2.2	Black Hole Thermodynamics	49	
		6.2.3	Charged black holes	51	
7	The	e Cosm	ological Constant as a Thermodynamic Variable in 2d I	Dilaton	
	Gravity				
	7.1	Imple	menting the Cosmological Constant	53	
		7.1.1	Example 1:AdS-Schwarzschild in 3+1 dimensions	55	

	7.1.2 Example 2: BTZ- Black holes	56	
	7.2 The correct action principle	56	
8	Conclusions	62	
\mathbf{A}	Holographic Renormalization		
	A.1 The Standard Approach	63	
	A 2 Holographic Renormalization: Hamilton-Jacobi approach	64	

1 Introduction

The search for quantum gravity is a natural consequence of the two revolutions physics saw in the first decades of the twentieth century. Quantum theory was conceived in an effort to understand the structure of atomic and subatomic particles. The result was a theory that was able to account for a vast amount of phenomena ranging from the chemical composition of stars and galaxies to more earthly technical applications. The price for this success was a profound change of our point of view of the way nature seems to work. The only other theory with a comparable amount of success was the theory of special and general relativity that came with a similar change of paradigm in its description of space and time as a manifold. The union of quantum mechanics and special relativity, quantum field theory, is the most successful physical theory up till now, with its most important output, the standard model of particle physics. The only thing missing in this model is gravity, described by the general theory of relativity. It is clear that the possibility that the two most successful theories of physics appear to be incompatible is disturbing.

This explains the effort put into the search for quantum gravity. Although it is not clear if a theory of quantum gravity is a sensible concept [25, 102], or even necessary [86], a vast amount of different approaches have been proposed. (For a slightly outdated but good history of quantum gravity see [118].) Whatever final form a theory of quantum gravity might take on, it appears that black holes provide important insights into its working, in the same way as the hydrogen atom did in the development of quantum mechanics. One of the first steps in this direction was the insight that black holes are thermodynamical systems with entropy and temperature. This realization led to an immense number of important ideas that helped to point out problems a final theory of quantum gravity should resolve (e.g. the information paradoxon) and concepts it should incorporate (e.g. the holographic principle).

The Cosmological Constant Problem is another important unresolved problem in both theoretical physics and cosmology, the relationship of which to a theory of quantum gravity is not clear. Perhaps a final theory of quantum gravity will solve both problems at one sweep (see the remarks at the end of this paragraph). The addition of a cosmological constant term to Einstein's equations was first considered by Einstein himself since the idea of an expanding universe predicted by his original equations

$$G_{ab} \equiv R_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}Rg_{ab} = 8\pi T_{ab} \tag{1.1}$$

was disturbing to him. The additional cosmological constant

$$G_{ab} - \Lambda g_{ab} = 8\pi T_{ab} \tag{1.2}$$

allows for the solution of a static universe, appropriately called *Einstein static universe*. The requirement of a static universe fixes the relation between the scale factor of the metric a and the cosmological constant uniquely to $\Lambda = \frac{1}{a^2}$. Despite the fact that a static universe was ruled out due to Hubble's observation of galactic redshift, the static universe is unsatisfying also from a pure theoretical point of view: the Einstein static universe is an

unstable solution and slightly different values of the parameters lead to an expanding or collapsing universe. Contrary to the original reason for including Λ in (1.1), today a small, positive cosmological constant is considered responsible for the accelerated expansion of the universe [112, 117]. Naive considerations based on quantum field theory— outlined in section 4.1—vield a much larger value of the cosmological constant. On the other hand, if the observed cosmological constant is interpreted as the sum of classical vacuum energy density ρ_{cl} and energy density induced from spontaneous symmetry breaking in the standard model ρ_{ind} one ends up with an extreme fine tuning problem as the two contributions have to cancel to an immense accuracy in order to explain the small observed value of Λ (cf. [122] for a review). Therefore, a number of mechanisms have been proposed in order to solve the cosmological constant problem, ranging from dark energy to reinterpretations and relaxation mechanisms for Λ (cf. [27, 96, 109] for recent reviews and [146] for Weinberg's seminal review). Other approaches suggest that the cosmological constant problem will be solved by a theory of quantum gravity. Since dilaton gravity allows a nonperturbative quantization it is best suited for the study of this proposal. Recent work showed indeed that the cosmological constant is determined by the requirement that the physical states should be annihilated by the quantized constraint operators. The cosmological constant is then a function of quantum numbers [58, 59]. Eventually, as a last resort remains the anthropic principle; a viable but highly unsatisfying option for most physicists.

In this work the consequences of a varying cosmological constant for black hole thermodynamics are studied. Although the cosmological constant seems to be positive, black hole thermodynamics in the presence of a positive cosmological constant, i.e. asymptotically de Sitter space, is not well understood. The reason for this is the presence of a cosmological horizon. An asymptotically de Sitter black hole spacetime yields two horizons with associated respective temperatures that do not coincide in general. Therefore, black hole thermodynamics in the presence of a cosmological constant is usually restricted to Anti-de Sitter spacetimes (AdS). Although probably not realized in nature, these spacetimes are of utter importance in various applications in theoretical physics. As mechanism for a varying cosmological constant we will mostly appeal to the Henneaux-Teitelboim mechanism [20, 21, 77–79, 131] but every other mechanism that results in a varying cosmological constant has the same consequences for black hole mechanics. Promoting Λ to a dynamical variable means that one must consider the variation of Λ in the first law of thermodynamics, where the variable conjugate to Λ is denoted by Θ . Since Λ can be regarded as a negative pressure when written on the right hand side of (1.2) one suspects that Θ might correspond to the negative volume of the black hole; it turns out that this is indeed the case. Since the volume of a black hole is usually regarded as ill-defined this opens up a nice possibility for the definition of a black hole volume as the variable conjugate to Λ . For spherically symmetric black holes one even recovers the naively expected result of the volume of a ball in Euclidean spacetime.

The above subject already has been treated in a number of works [37, 43–46, 89, 94, 95, 144]. Here, we choose the framework of *two dimensional dilaton gravity* (cf. [66] for a review). The complexity of Einstein gravity in four dimensions lies both in conceptual issues and technical difficulties. Lower dimensional gravity theories provide conceptual

insights while reducing technical complications. Dilaton gravity is a theory of gravity in two dimensions, i.e. one time and one spatial dimensions, with the degrees of freedom described by the two dimensional metric g_{ab} and an additional scalar field X, the *dilaton* field. Dilaton gravity even allows the study of higher dimensional spacetimes that are effectively two dimensional, e.g. Schwarzschild in arbitrary dimensions. Dilaton gravity provides a natural framework for the discussion of a varying cosmological constant as Λ is easily implemented as the charge of a Maxwell field.

Since we are interested in black hole thermodynamics in the presence of a varying cosmological constant, we follow the most natural way to thermodynamics via the semiclassical approximation of the Euclidean path integral. The application of this approximation requires a well-defined action principle for dilaton gravity with varying cosmological constant. The cosmological constant determines the asymptotic behavior of a spacetime, and a varying cosmological constant means that the leading order of an asymptotic expansion of the metric may vary freely. This implies an unusual variational principle.

The outline of this work is as follows: In order to be largely self-contained, chapter 2 reviews important results regarding black hole solutions of Einstein's equation (1.1). Chapter 6.2.2 discusses the emergence of the notion of black hole thermodynamics. The four classical laws of black hole thermodynamics are studied in detail. The semiclassical concepts of Bekenstein-Hawking entropy and Hawking temperature are motivated and the Euclidean path integral approach to black hole thermodynamics is reviewed. In chapter 4 the cosmological constant problem is reviewed and the Henneaux–Teitelboim approach and various related mechanisms for the reduction of the cosmological constant are introduced. Finally, black hole thermodynamics with Λ regarded as a thermodynamic variable is discussed. In order to clarify the notion of a well-defined variational principle, chapter 5 contains a discussion of the variational principle and necessary boundary terms that need to be added to make the variational principle well-defined. An introduction to dilaton gravity is given in chapter 6. Three independent motivation for the study of dilaton gravity are discussed. The approach of [68] to dilaton black hole thermodynamics based on a well-defined variational principle is discussed in detail. Finally, chapter 7 contains the original contributions to this work. An action that gives rise to a well-defined variational principle for dilaton gravity with a variable cosmological constant is presented and two applications, Schwarzschild black holes and BTZ black holes, are discussed.

Throughout this thesis the convention (-+..+) is used when working in Lorentzian signature. Results obtained in Euclidean signature are interpreted in terms of Lorentzian signature. Natural units with $c = \hbar = k_B = 1$ are used with the exception of some important formulae where constants are restored. In chapters 6 and 7 we set $8\pi G_2 = 1$ to reduce clutter.

2 Black Hole Solutions

2.1 The Schwarzschild Solution

The first exact solution to Einstein's equations was found by Karl Schwarzschild only a few months after their publication [119], the Schwarzschild solution:

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{2M}{r}\right)dt^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r}\right)^{-1}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega_{2}^{2},$$
(2.1)

where $d\Omega_2^2 = d\theta^2 + \sin^2 \theta \, d\phi^2$ denotes the metric on the round 2- sphere.

The Schwarzschild solution is a vacuum solution of Einstein's equations. It describes the exterior gravitational field of a static, spherically symmetric body of mass M, the chosen coordinates- the Schwarzschild coordinates- reflect these symmetries. The "time coordinate" t is measured along the timelike Killing vector field ξ^a , which generates the "time translation symmetry" of the spacetime. The existence of a timelike Killing vector field in a spacetime is equivalent to the notion of stationarity. Additionally, if a spacelike hypersurface exists that is everywhere orthogonal to the Killing vector field of the spacetime, i.e. one can choose coordinates without " $dt dx^i$ " cross terms, the spacetime is called static. As mentioned above, the Schwarzschild solution is spherically symmetric, i.e. its isometry group contains SO(3) as a subgroup. The metric on each orbit of this subgroup is proportional to the metric of a two sphere and is characterized by its area Aor, equivalently, by $r = (\frac{A}{d\pi})^{1/2}$.

These considerations explain the overall structure of (2.1). Only the coefficients of dt^2 and dr^2 remain to be specified. These two functions are found straightforwardly by plugging the ansatz that respects the above symmetries into the vacuum equations

$$R_{ab} = 0. (2.2)$$

By comparison with the Newtonian limit an appearing constant is identified with mass M of the central body.

As well known, the Schwarzschild metric becomes singular in both the limits $r \to 2M$ and $r \to 0$. The latter is an actual curvature singularity, where the *Kretschmann scalar* $R_{abcd}R^{abcd}$ diverges. The singularity at r = 2M is a mere coordinate singularity, that may be circumvented by going to *Kruskal-Szekeres* coordinates [93, 127]:

$$ds^{2} = \frac{32M^{3}e^{-\frac{r}{2M}}}{r}dUdV + r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta d\phi^{2}), \qquad (2.3)$$

where the coordinates T and V are defined as

$$UV = -\frac{r-2M}{2M}e^{\frac{r}{2M}}$$
(2.4)

Clearly, in the above coordinates the metric is well defined at r = 2M. The range of the coordinates U and V is initially restricted to U < 0, V > 0. The range of the coordinates can be extended to positive U and negative V by analytic continuation. The resulting spacetime is *Kruskal spacetime*. Thus, the Schwarzschild solution is *extendible*, i.e. one



Figure 1. Kruskal spacetime (taken from [133]).

can find a new manifold \mathcal{M}' with metric g' into which the original manifold \mathcal{M} with metric g can be imbedded [75]. On the other hand, it turns out that Kruskal spacetime is inextendible, it is the *maximal extension* of Schwarzschild. The maximally extended Schwarzschild spacetime is shown in figure 1.

Region I describes the original asymptotically flat Schwarzschild spacetime. Every radially infalling observer eventually crosses the null surface r = 2M to enter region II. Once entered, the observer inevitably ends up in the singularity r = 0 within finite proper time. Every light signal sent from within this region will also end up in the singularity. This is the *black hole* region. Region III is the "time reversed" counterpart of region II. The only way to enter this region is through the curvature singularity and every observer eventually leaves region III in finite proper time. This region is the *white hole*. Region IV is another asymptotically flat region identical to region I. In a realistic scenario of gravitational collapse to a black hole, regions III and IV are covered up by infalling matter.

The fact that the metric in Schwarzschild coordinates (2.1) is ill-defined at r = 2M, is due to a different reason. The coordinate t is measured along the timelike Killing vector field ξ^a , thus the square of the norm of ξ^a is given by

$$\xi^a \xi_a = 1 - \frac{2M}{r}.$$
 (2.5)

This clearly vanishes at r = 2M, which defines a null hypersurface in spacetime. These are the defining properties of a *Killing horizon*. The Killing horizon coincides with the hypersurface r = 2M, which is the boundary of the black hole region II, the so called *event horizon*. That this is always the case for static black holes was shown in [29]. Whereas the Killing horizon is locally defined, the notion of an event horizon requires knowledge of the global properties of the respective spacetime. Crossing the event horizon, an observer does not notice anything unusual. A precise definition of an event horizon and the black hole region of a spacetime is presented in section (2.3).

2.2 Conformal Infinity and Black Holes

As seen above, a black hole is a "region of spacetime from which no signal can escape to infinity" (Penrose). The existence of a black hole therefore depends on the notion of infinity and the causal structure of spacetime. Since conformal transformations do not change the causal structure, a spacetime can be *conformally compactified*, i.e. infinity is added to the original physical spacetime \mathcal{M} , which yields a *unphysical spacetime* $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}$. That way, the treatment of asymptotic properties of a spacetime is considerably simplified. In addition, so called *Carter–Penrose diagrams* can be constructed, that clarify the causal structure of the respective physical spacetime. A rigorous definition of conformal compactification is presented in [139]. The following definition is sufficiently accurate for our needs.

Consider a spacetime (\mathcal{M}, g) . A conformally related metric on \mathcal{M} is given by

$$\tilde{g} = \Omega^2 g. \tag{2.6}$$

For a conformal compactification, Ω is chosen in such a way that for points at infinity with respect to g, the conformal factor approaches 0. Thus, infinity is defined as the points where $\Omega = 0$. These points are not part of the original spacetime \mathcal{M} but they may be added to \mathcal{M} to yield the *unphysical* spacetime $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}$. $(\tilde{\mathcal{M}}, \tilde{g})$ is a conformal compactification of (\mathcal{M}, g) .

For example, consider Minkowski spacetime:

$$ds^2 = -dt^2 + dr^2 + r^2 d\Omega^2. (2.7)$$

A conformal compactification of Minkowski space is given by the metric

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = -4dpdq + \sin^{2}(p-q)d\Omega^{2} \qquad -\frac{\pi}{2} \le p \le q \le \frac{\pi}{2}$$
(2.8)

with $t-r = \tan p$, $t+r = \tan q$. The Carter–Penrose diagram obtained from this compactification is shown in figure 2. Five asymptotic regions can be distinguished in this diagram: *past timelike infinity* i^- ; the three dimensional surface *past null infinity* \mathscr{I}^- ; *spatial infinity* i^0 ; *future null infinity* \mathscr{I}^+ ; *future timelike infinity* i^+ . All timelike geodesics, that can be infinitely extended, begin at i^- and end at i^+ , whereas all infinitely extended spacelike geodesics begin and end at i^0 . All null geodesics begin at \mathscr{I}^- and end at \mathscr{I}^+ .

The Carter–Penrose diagram of the maximally extended Schwarzschild spacetime obtained by conformally compactification is given in figure 3. The structure of this diagram is similar to the Kruskal diagram with the conformal infinite regions included. The fact that these regions look like Minkowski space is due to the asymptotic flatness of the Schwarzschild metric. In the framework of Penrose–Carter diagrams asymptotic flatness is recognized easily. Rigorous definitions of asymptotic flatness are presented in [75, 139].



Figure 2. Carter Penrose diagram of Minkowski spacetime (taken from[26]).



Figure 3. Carter Penrose of the maximally extended Schwarzschild spacetime (taken from [26]).

2.3 Horizons and the No-Hair Theorem

With the above definitions of conformal infinity the intuitive notion of an event horizon can be made precise: The black hole region B of an asymptotically flat spacetime \mathcal{M} is the part of \mathcal{M} that is not contained in the causal past of future null infinity \mathscr{I}^+ , i.e. $B = \mathcal{M} - J^-(\mathscr{I}^+)$. The boundary of the black hole region B in \mathcal{M} is called the *future* event horizon, $\mathscr{H}^+ = \dot{J}^-(\mathscr{I}^+) \cap \mathcal{M}$. In the same way, white hole region and past event horizon \mathscr{H}^- are defined by replacing $J^-(\mathscr{I}^+)$ with $J^+(\mathscr{I}^-)$. In other words, from inside the event horizon photons or particles cannot escape to future infinity. Therefore, the event horizon causally separates two regions of spacetime and is thus always a null surface. As mentioned above, the notion of an event horizon is only globally defined.

A Killing horizon is a logically independent concept, however in the case of stationary black holes these concepts are related. A Killing horizon associated to a Killing vector k^a is defined as "a null embedded hypersurface, invariant under the flow of a Killing vector k, which coincides with a connected component of the set $\mathcal{N}[k] := \{k^a k_a = 0, k \neq 0\}$ " [34]. A quantity associated to a Killing horizon is the surface gravity κ , which describes the necessary acceleration of a test particle in order to remain static near the horizon. A Killing horizon with vanishing surface gravity is called *extremal*.

As mentioned above, event horizons and Killing horizons are related in black hole spacetimes. The *strong rigidity theorem* states that the event horizon of a stationary black hole is a Killing horizon [51, 75]. The Killing vector associated to the Killing horizon that coincides with the event horizon is not necessarily the Killing vector generating the time translation symmetry. If this is the case the Killing horizon is called *non-rotating*, otherwise *rotating*.

The rigidity theorem is an essential ingredient in the proof of the uniqueness- or no hair-conjecture, in the cases where it actually holds. This conjecture— due to Israel, Penrose and Wheeler—states that all stationary axisymmetric black hole solutions are isometric to the Kerr–Newman family (see section 2.4). Thus, they can be described in terms of a small set of parameters, namely mass, angular momentum, and charge. The most general form of this conjecture has been ruled out by the construction of various stable black holes with "hair", i.e. these solutions cannot be parametrized in terms of a small number of asymptotic flux integrals [47, 80, 81]. The most general statement of the no-hair conjecture that has been rigorously proven concerns Einstein–Maxwell theory assuming asymptotic flatness and analyticity of the metric provided that the event horizon is either non degenerate or rotating. A recent review and further references can be found in [34].

There are different notions of horizon other than Killing and event horizon, like apparent horizons, trapping horizons, dynamical horizons, etc. Since these concepts will not be relevant in the following discussion, the reader is referred to the literature [3, 139].

2.4 The Kerr–Newman family

The simplest black hole solution, the Schwarzschild metric was presented in section 2.1. The Schwarzschild metric can be generalized to include electromagnetic field. The corresponding solution of the Einstein–Maxwell equations is the *Reissner–Nordström* metric [108, 116] that describes the gravitational field of a spherical body of mass M and electrical charge Q

$$ds^{2} = -f(r)dt^{2} + f(r)^{-1}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega_{2}^{2}$$
(2.9)

$$f(r) = 1 - \frac{2M}{r} + \frac{Q^2}{r^2}.$$
(2.10)

Again, the curvature singularity is at r = 0 while the roots of the timelike Killing vector the Killing horizons—

$$r_{\pm} = M \pm \sqrt{M^2 - Q^2} \tag{2.11}$$

are mere coordinate singularities and can be gauged away by a suitable coordinate transformation. As seen above, the Reissner–Nordström black hole yields two horizons, an inner



Figure 4. Carter Penrose of the maximally extended Reissner–Nordström spacetime (taken from [133]).

and an outer horizon, if M > |Q|. In the case M < |Q|, no event horizon is present, though the singularity at r = 0 still exists. Since the singularity is not shielded by an event horizon it is a *naked singularity*. In the limiting case M = |Q|, the black hole is called *extremal*, an infinitesimal perturbation of the black hole would produce a naked singularity.

The curvature singularity of Reissner–Nordström differs significantly from the singularity of Schwarzschild, insofar as it is a timelike singularity, as can be seen in figure 4). An observer can avoid the singularity by passing through the inner horizon to a different asymptotically flat region. Since all geodesics can be extended to infinity the spacetime is called *geodesically complete*.

Until now only static black hole solutions were considered and a long time these were the only known black hole solutions. Much later, stationary rotating black hole solutions were found by Kerr [91] and a generalization to stationary charged rotating black holes by Newman et al. [106]. In *Boyer–Lindquist* coordinates the Kerr–Newman metric and its vector potential are given by

$$ds^{2} = -\left(\frac{\Delta - a^{2}\sin^{2}\theta}{\Sigma}\right)dt^{2} - \frac{2a\sin^{2}\theta\left(r^{2} + a^{2} - \Delta\right)}{\Sigma}dtd\phi + \frac{(r^{2} + a^{2})^{2} - \Delta a^{2}\sin^{2}\theta}{\Sigma}\sin^{2}\theta d\phi^{2} + \frac{\Sigma}{\Delta}dr^{2} + \Sigma d\theta^{2}.$$
 (2.12)

$$A_a = -\frac{Qr}{\Sigma} \left[(dt)_a - a\sin^2\theta (d\phi)_a \right], \qquad (2.13)$$

 $\Sigma = r^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta$ $\Delta = r^2 + a^2 + Q^2 - 2Mr,$ (2.14)

M the total mass, Q the total electric charge, and J = Ma the total angular momentum. Again, depending on the value of the three parameters three different cases can be distinguished: If $Q^2 + a^2 > M^2$, no event horizon shields the singularity, which is therefore a naked singularity. In the case $Q^2 + a^2 < M^2$, both inner and outer horizon exist at $r_{\pm} = M \pm (M^2 - a^2 - Q^2)^{1/2}$. If the parameters satisfy $Q^2 + a^2 = M^2$ the metric describes an extreme black hole.

The metric (2.12) exhibits the Killing vectors $\xi^a = (\frac{\partial}{\partial t})^a$, the asymptotic time translation Killing field, and $\psi^a = (\frac{\partial}{\partial \phi})^a$, the azimuthal Killing field. The norm of ξ^a is given by

$$\xi^a \xi_a = \frac{a^2 \sin^2 \theta - \Delta}{\Sigma}.$$
(2.15)

Thus, the time translation Killing field becomes spacelike in the region

$$r^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta + Q^2 - 2Mr. (2.16)$$

A part of this region lies outside of r_+ , as well. Therefore, an observer cannot remain static in the region

$$r_{+} < r < M + (M^{2} - Q^{2} - a^{2} \cos^{2} \theta)^{1/2},$$
 (2.17)

called the *ergosphere*.

As mentioned above, the rigidity theorem requires the event horizon to be a Killing horizon. For the Kerr–Newman metric the event horizon is not generated by the time translation Killing field ξ^a but by the linear combination

$$\chi^a = \xi^a + \Omega_H \psi^a \qquad \Omega_H = \frac{a}{r_+^2 + a^2} \tag{2.18}$$

The quantity Ω_H is interpreted as the angular velocity of the outer horizon.

Since the main part of this work will be focused almost exclusively on spherically symmetric black holes the reader is referred to the ample literature on the Kerr–Newman family.

with

3 Black Hole Thermodynamics

Thermodynamics is a powerful tool with a vast range of applicability since thermodynamics establishes relations between macroscopic variables like temperature, volume, pressure etc. without paying attention to the microscopic properties of the system. It was Boltzmann who showed that some of the microscopic properties of a system may be deduced from macroscopic variables which culminated in his famous formula

$$S = k_B \ln \Omega, \tag{3.1}$$

relating the macroscopic variable entropy S to Ω , the number of different microstates or the phase space volume— of the system that are compatible with a given macrostate. This is the starting point for statistical mechanics, which calculates the macroscopic properties of a system from the underlying microscopic theory, thus establishing the theoretical foundation for the heuristically found laws of thermodynamics.

Now, the notion of black hole thermodynamics may sound preposterous, since one may ask for the microstates or phase space of a black hole justifying a thermodynamic approach. Nevertheless, it will be clarified how the notion of black hole thermodynamics comes about and what one can learn from it regarding the underlying theory.

3.1 The Area Theorem (The Second law of black hole mechanics)

The first hint towards black hole thermodynamics came from Hawking's area theorem [70]. The statement of the theorem follows [139] where the proof can be found, as well:

"Let (\mathcal{M}, g_{ab}) be a strongly asymptotically predictable spacetime satisfying $R_{ab}k^ak^b \geq 0$ for every null vector k^a . Let Σ_1 and Σ_2 be spacelike Cauchy surfaces for the globally hyperbolic region \tilde{V} with $\Sigma_2 \subset I^+(\Sigma_1)$ and let $\mathcal{H}_1 = H \cap \Sigma_1, \mathcal{H}_2 = H \cap \Sigma_2$, where H denotes the event horizon, i.e. the boundary of the black hole region of (\mathcal{M}, g_{ab}) . Then the area of \mathcal{H}_2 is greater than or equal to the area of \mathcal{H}_1 ."

Thus, using relatively mild conditions (weak energy condition, existence of Cauchy hypersurfaces, cosmic censorship hypothesis), we see that the area of a black hole horizon can never decrease. In other words

$$\delta A \ge 0. \tag{3.2}$$

This formulation is strongly reminiscent of the formulation of the second law of thermodynamics, namely

$$\delta S \ge 0, \tag{3.3}$$

the statement that entropy must increase in every process. The analogy goes even further if one remembers that from the second law of thermodynamics follows Carnot's theorem, that limits the efficiency of conversion of heat into work, as a corollary. Similar limits on the efficiency of conversions of mass into energy in black hole collisions can be derived from (3.2).

Consider two widely separated black holes with masses M_1 and M_2 , respectively, such that the interaction between them can be neglected. Eventually, the dynamical evolution of this situation will result in a spacetime where the two black holes have coalesced to a single black hole that finally settles down to a Schwarzschild black hole of mass M_3 . The energy emitted in this process is $M_1 + M_2 - M_3$, thus the efficiency of mass to energy conversion is

$$\eta = \frac{M_1 + M_2 - M_3}{M_1 + M_2} = 1 - \frac{M_3}{M_1 + M_2}.$$
(3.4)

Since the two black holes are initially widely apart we may assume that they are approximately stationary so that the respective horizon areas are $A_1 = 16\pi M_1^2$ and $A_2 = 16\pi M_2^2$. The area theorem asserts that the area of the final black hole obeys

$$A_3 \ge 16\pi (M_1^2 + M_2^2). \tag{3.5}$$

After the final black hole has settled down to a Schwarzschild solution its area is given by $A_3 = 16\pi M_3^2$. Thus, it follows that

$$M_3 \ge \sqrt{M_1^2 + M_2^2}.$$
(3.6)

Therefore, the efficiency of mass to energy conversion is limited by

$$\eta = 1 - \frac{M_3}{M_1 + M_2} \le 1 - \frac{\sqrt{M_1^2 + M_2^2}}{M_1 + M_2} \le 1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
(3.7)

Although the area theorem's resemblance to the second law of thermodynamics seems remarkable, one might have the impression that the similarities are just superficial. After all, the area theorem is a precise mathematical statement in the framework of general relativity whereas the second law of thermodynamics is an empirical statement valid for systems with a large number of degrees of freedom. However, in a famous paper Bardeen, Carter and Hawking [7] summarized the correspondence of the four laws of thermodynamics to counterparts in BH physics.

3.2 The Four Laws of Black Hole Mechanics

3.2.1 Surface Gravity and the Zeroth Law

As a first step, we will define a quantity called surface gravity κ that will prove to be important in the context of black hole thermodynamics. In Newtonian mechanics one associates surface gravity with the magnitude of the acceleration that a test particle undergoes in the field of a body, say the earth. In other words, surface gravity is the acceleration a test particle has to be accelerated with in order to remain static in the field of the body, near the body surface. We will see that this interpretation carries over to the general relativistic case. Our derivation will follow the outline of [141].

Let \mathcal{H} denote a Killing horizon associated to the Killing vector χ^a , i.e. \mathcal{H} is a null hypersurface with normal vector χ^a . By definition, the norm of the Killing vector vanishes on \mathcal{H} and is thus trivially constant on \mathcal{H} . Therefore, the vector $\nabla^b(\chi^a\chi_a)$ is normal to \mathcal{H} . Since the vectors χ^a and $\nabla^b(\chi^a\chi_a)$ are both normal to \mathcal{H} they must be proportional to each other. Hence, we define the surface gravity κ to be

$$\nabla^b(\chi^a\chi_a) = -2\kappa\chi^b. \tag{3.8}$$

The Lie derivative of this equation w.r.t to χ yields

$$\pounds_{\chi}\kappa = 0. \tag{3.9}$$

This means that κ is constant along the orbits of χ^a .

In the following we will derive a useful formula for calculating the surface gravity from the Killing vector χ^a . From Frobenius' theorem follows that a vector ξ is orthogonal to a foliation of hypersurfaces— or hypersurface orthogonal— if and only if the expression $\xi_{[a} \nabla_b \xi_{c]}$ vanishes on the hypersurface. The Killing vector χ^a is clearly hypersurface orthogonal, thus we have

$$\chi_{[a} \nabla_b \chi_{c]} \Big|_{\mathcal{H}} = 0.$$
(3.10)

Using Killing's equation $\nabla_a \chi_b + \nabla_b \chi_a = 0$ and contracting with $(\nabla^a \chi^b)$ one obtains

$$\chi_c(\nabla^a \chi^b)(\nabla_a \chi_b) = -2(\chi_a \nabla^a \chi^b)(\nabla_b \chi_c) = -2\kappa \chi^b \nabla_b \chi_c = -2\kappa^2 \chi_c$$
(3.11)

after using (3.8) twice (where everything is evaluated on the horizon \mathcal{H}). Thus, we arrive at a simple formula for surface gravity κ :

$$\kappa^2 = -\frac{1}{2} (\nabla^a \chi^b) (\nabla_a \chi_b) \Big|_{\mathcal{H}}.$$
(3.12)

For the case of a static spherically symmetric black hole with the line element

$$ds^{2} = -f(r)dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{f(r)} + r^{2}d\Omega_{2}^{2}$$
(3.13)

the above formula (3.12) simplifies to

$$\kappa = \frac{1}{2} \partial_r f(r) \big|_{\mathcal{H}},\tag{3.14}$$

as can be easily checked. As the simplest example we may calculate the surface gravity for a Schwarzschild black hole. Using (3.14) we arrive at $\kappa = \frac{1}{4M}$. This is the same result one would obtain in Newton's theory for the surface gravity of a body of mass M and radius 2M. For general stationary charged black holes with angular momentum J = aM, mass M and charge Q, surface gravity is given by the expression

$$\kappa = \frac{(M^2 - a^2 - Q^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{2M(M + (M^2 - a^2 - Q^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}) - Q^2}.$$
(3.15)

Until now, we have only showed that κ is constant along the orbits of the Killing vector χ . Another remarkable property of κ is the fact that it is constant on the horizon. For a bifurcate Killing horizon this property can be shown easily: Consider the bifurcation sphere S of a Killing horizon \mathcal{H} with tangent vector s^a . Differentiating equation (3.8) w.r.t. s^a yields

$$\kappa s^a \nabla_a \kappa = -\frac{1}{2} s^c (\nabla_c \nabla_a \chi_b) (\nabla^a \chi^b) = \frac{1}{2} s^c R^d_{\ abc} \chi_d \nabla^a \chi^b = 0.$$
(3.16)

Thus, κ is constant on the bifurcate sphere and since its derivative along the orbits of the generators of the Killing horizon is zero, it is constant on the Killing horizon.

The general proof that κ is constant on a Killing horizon is lengthy and will not be given here. In principle, there are two different ways to prove this result: One proof assumes that the black hole is static or stationary-axisymmetric together with a property called t- ϕ orthogonality [30, 114]; alternatively, Einstein's equations and the dominant energy condition [7] can be used.

Summarizing, we have seen that a quantity called surface gravity can be defined that may be interpreted as the force at infinity that must be exerted on a particle to hold it in place in the vicinity of the horizon. Remarkably, this quantity— although defined locally is constant on the horizon, not only for static spacetimes but for stationary spacetimes, as well. This is the zeroth law of black hole mechanics:

The Zeroth Law: The surface gravity, κ of a stationary black hole is constant over the event horizon [7].

The suggestive naming is of course reminiscent of the zeroth law of thermodynamics, which states that the temperature is uniform for a body in thermodynamic equilibrium. At this point, the similarities between temperature and surface gravity seem to be quite superficial but the the following will show that the quantities are in fact intimately related.

3.2.2 The First Law

The first law of thermodynamics is a formulation of energy conservation. Different forms of energy may be transformed into each other, e.g. heat into work and internal energy, but energy is not created or destroyed. It turns out that the first law of black hole mechanics describes the change in the total energy of a black hole, the mass M in a similar way.

As pointed out in [141], two logically independent versions of this law exist: the *physical* process version and the *equilibrium version*. The physical process version starts with a black hole in equilibrium and changes its parameters in a physical process i.e. by throwing matter with infinitesimal mass, charge and angular momentum into the black hole. After the black hole has settled down one compares the parameters of the initial and final state.

In the equilibrium state version one is interested in black hole solutions whose parameters differ only by an infinitesimal amount. These two independent derivations of the first law have to agree with each other. Otherwise, some assumptions of the physical process version would turn out to be wrong, e.g. one has destroyed the black hole by adding infinitesimally small amounts of matter.

Since the rigorous calculations of these two versions are quite lengthy, we will derive a formula relating the parameters of a black hole to its mass— the *Smarr formula*— and use it to motivate the first law of thermodynamics. The below derivation of the first law follows [133].

The Komar integral for the angular momentum J of an axisymmetric-stationary spacetime is given by

$$J(V) = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \oint_{\partial \Sigma} dS_{ab} \nabla^a \psi^b$$
(3.17)

where we put $\xi^a = \psi^a$, the axial Killing field, and the coefficient was set to c = 1, which follows from comparison of J(V) for a weak source with the definition of angular momentum. Gauss' law applied to J(V) yields

$$J = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\Sigma} dS_a \nabla_b \nabla^a \psi^b + \frac{1}{16\pi G} \oint_H dS_{ab} D^a \psi^b$$
$$= \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\Sigma} dS_a R^a_{\ b} \psi^b + J_H.$$
(3.18)

Here the identity $\nabla_a \nabla_b \xi^c = R^c_{abd} \xi^d$ for Killing vectors ξ^a was used. With Einstein's equations one can rewrite the first term as

$$J = \int_{\Sigma} dS_a (T^a_{\ b} - \frac{1}{2}T\delta^a_{\ b})\psi^b + J_H.$$
(3.19)

The spacetimes we are interested in are vacuum or electrovac solutions of Einstein's equations. The trace of T^{ab} vanishes for electromagnetic fields, therefore we may assume T = 0and we have

$$J = \int_{\Sigma} dS_a T^a_{\ b}(F)\psi^b + J_H, \qquad (3.20)$$

where T(F) denotes the energy-momentum tensor of the Maxwell field. From the Komar integral for the total mass of spacetime we have

$$M = -\frac{1}{4\pi G} \int_{\Sigma} dS_a R^a_{\ b} \xi^b - \frac{1}{8\pi G} \oint_H dS_{ab} \nabla^a \xi^b \tag{3.21}$$

after applying Gauss' law. Here ξ^a denotes the stationary Killing vector. As mentioned in (2.18) the Killing vector χ^a normal to the horizon is given by $\chi^a = \xi^a + \Omega_H \psi^a$. With Einstein's equations and this relation (3.21) yields

$$M = \int_{\Sigma} dS_a (-2T^a_b \xi^b + Tk^a) - \frac{1}{8\pi G} \oint_H dS_{ab} (\nabla^a \chi^b - \Omega_H \nabla^a \psi^b).$$
(3.22)

For T = 0 and using the expression for the total angular momentum (3.20) this is

$$M = -2\int_{\Sigma} dS_a T^a_{\ b}(F)\chi^b + 2\Omega_H J - \frac{1}{8\pi G}\oint_H dS_{ab}\nabla^a\chi^b.$$
(3.23)

The first term can be shown to equal $Q\Phi_H$ with Q the charge of the black hole and Φ_H the co-rotating potential evaluated on the horizon. The area element dS_{ab} in the last integral is given by $dS_{ab} = (\chi_a n_b - \chi_b n_a) dA$ on \mathcal{H} where n is another vector normal to the horizon obeying $\chi^a n_a = -1$. Thus, the last term in equation (3.23) can be evaluated to yield

$$-\frac{1}{8\pi G}\oint_{H} dS_{ab}\nabla^{a}\chi^{b} = \frac{\kappa}{4\pi G}A$$
(3.24)

where the zeroth law was used. Collecting all terms, we arrive at the Smarr formula [7, 30, 121],

$$M = \frac{\kappa A}{4\pi} + 2\Omega_H J + \Phi_H Q. \tag{3.25}$$

Now, in order to obtain the first law of black hole mechanics we have to evoke Euler's theorem of homogeneous functions, which states that if a function $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ obeys the relation $f(\alpha^{p_1}x_1, ..., \alpha^{p_n}x_n) = \alpha^r f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ then the partial derivatives satisfy

$$rf(x_1, ..., x_n) = \sum_{i=1}^n p_i \frac{\partial f(x_1, ..., x_n)}{\partial x_i} x_i.$$
 (3.26)

Under an overall change in length scale L the physical quantities in (3.25) scale as $M \propto L^{d-2}$, $A \propto L^{d-1}$, $J \propto L^{d-1}$, $Q \propto L^{d-2}$. Euler's theorem thus implies

$$M(A, J, Q) = 2\left(\frac{\partial M}{\partial A}\right)A + 2\left(\frac{\partial M}{\partial J}\right)J + \left(\frac{\partial M}{\partial Q}\right)Q.$$
(3.27)

From comparison with (3.25) one can therefore read off the partial derivatives of M. From this follows the first law of black hole mechanics.

$$dM(A, J, Q) = \frac{\kappa}{8\pi} dA + \Omega_H dJ + \Phi_H dQ.$$
(3.28)

Now, this looks remarkably similar to the first law of thermodynamics. The second and third term correspond to the work terms one would expect for a charged rotating system in the first law of thermodynamics. With the zeroth law and the area theorem in mind one could interpret the first term as a TdS term. Obviously, the first law of black hole mechanics gives further evidence to the idea that the area of a black hole is related to entropy and the surface gravity is related to temperature. Classically, the black hole must have zero temperature since it emits no particles. But in the next section it will be shown that the surface gravity κ is in fact proportional to the actual temperature of the black hole.

3.2.3 The Third Law

For the third law of thermodynamics, two different formulations exist. The *Planck-Nernst* form of the third law states that $S \to 0$ as $T \to 0$. This statement is not true for the analogous quantities in black hole mechanics, since black holes with $\kappa = 0$ (extremal black holes) have nonzero horizon area A. As pointed out in [143] there is evidence that this formulation of the third law is not valid even for ordinary quantum systems. The violation of the third law in these systems is similar to the violation of the third law in black holes [142].

A different formulation of the third law of thermodynamics according to Nernst states that the temperature of a system cannot be reduced to zero in a finite number of steps. The analogue of this law— the surface gravity κ of a black cannot be reduced to zero in any finite process— holds in black hole mechanics as was shown in [82, 138]. In the case of a charged non-rotating black hole the argument is very simple: From equation (3.15) we see that a Reissner–Nordström black hole is extremal, i.e. $\kappa = 0$, if $M^2 = Q^2$. Thus, one starts with a nonextremal black hole with |Q| < M. In order to obtain an extremal black hole, charged particles are dropped into the black hole. But this works only up to a certain ratio $\frac{|Q_{end}|}{M} < 1$, since by then the repelling electromagnetic force is stronger than gravity and the particle does not end up in the black hole. In the same way, it can be shown that a particle dropped into a rotating black hole with enough angular momentum to make the black hole extremal, simply misses the black hole. Thus, following [7] we state:

The Third law: It is impossible by any procedure, no matter how idealized, to reduce κ to zero by a finite sequence of operations.

As already mentioned in section (3.1) the second law of black hole thermodynamics is Hawking's area law. Up to this point the relationship between the laws of thermodynamics and the laws of black hole mechanics is a mere analogy. Classically, black holes do not have temperature. But the similarities between black hole area A and entropy S should not be dismissed easily. After all, there are not many physical quantities that are forbidden to decrease with time. Furthermore, the role of energy is consequently played by mass in the laws of black hole mechanics. It is due to the work of Bekenstein and Hawking that the relationship between the laws of thermodynamics and the laws of black hole mechanics was made clear.

3.3 Generalized Second Law and Hawking Radiation

The *no-hair theorem* mentioned in previous section poses some problems. Consider a complex matter system that undergoes gravitational collapse to a black hole. The no-hair theorem asserts that the resulting black hole is indeed described by just a few physical quantities: mass, charge, angular momentum. But the initial system, e.g. a star, certainly needs a lot more parameters for a full description. Thus, phase space is dramatically reduced after gravitational collapse.

Another, very simple gedankenexperiment shows even more drastically that something is amiss in the interplay between black holes and the second law of thermodynamics: Consider a thermodynamical system with finite entropy that is dropped into the black hole. If the entropy is really lost in this process then the second law of thermodynamics is not valid anymore. It was Bekenstein who noticed that the second law of thermodynamics could be saved, if the black hole has an entropy itself, that is proportional to its area [9, 10]:

$$S_{BH} \propto A$$
 (3.29)

with a coefficient of order one. As will be seen, this coefficient is $\frac{1}{4}$ for black holes in Einstein gravity, or with all constants restored

$$S_{BH} = \frac{k_B c^3 A}{4G\hbar}.$$
(3.30)

This is the Bekenstein–Hawking entropy. Bekenstein therefore proposed a generalized entropy as the sum of matter entropy S and the black hole entropy S_{BH} ,

$$S' = S + \sum_{i} \frac{k_B c^3 A_i}{4G\hbar}.$$
(3.31)

For this generalized entropy, the generalized second law of thermodynamics is valid:

$$\delta S' \ge 0. \tag{3.32}$$

The nature of the Bekenstein–Hawking entropy is intrinsically quantum as can be seen from the appearance of \hbar . It is closely linked to the semiclassical effect of *Hawking radiation*.

In classical general relativity a black hole is an object, from which no particles can escape. It came as a great surprise when it was shown that black holes emit particles with a thermal spectrum [71, 72]. Even though the derivation of Hawking radiation is not too difficult it requires techniques of quantum field theory in curved background which lie beyond the scope of this work. Therefore, we will settle for a motivation of Hawking radiation.

Although discovered later, the Unruh effect lies at the core of the Hawking effect [136]. The Unruh effect is the phenomenon that an accelerating observer with proper acceleration a in Minkowski space will perceive the Minkowski vacuum as a thermal bath of particles with temperature (with all constants restored)

$$T_U = \frac{\hbar a}{2\pi c k_B}.\tag{3.33}$$

The reason for this lies in the definition of the vacuum state. Following [36], it will be seen that two different observers do not agree on the definition of the vacuum in general. For simplicity, consider a massive scalar field with a set of solutions $\{f_i, f_i^*\}$ that are complete with respect to a suitably chosen inner product. The quantized field $\hat{\phi}(x)$ is expanded as

$$\hat{\phi}(x) = \sum_{i} \left(\hat{a}_{i} f_{i}(x) + \hat{a}_{i}^{\dagger} f_{i}^{*}(x) \right), \qquad (3.34)$$

where a_i and a_i^{\dagger} are creation and annihilator operators, respectively, that obey the well known algebra of ladder operators. The vacuum state $|0\rangle$ is defined as $a |0\rangle = 0$. Obviously, the choice of the f_i , called *positive frequency modes*, determines the vacuum state. Consider two complete sets of solutions $\{f_i^{(1)}, f_i^{(1)*}\}$ and $\{f_j^{(2)}, f_j^{(2)*}\}$. Since both sets are complete they may be expressed in terms of each other

$$f_j^{(2)} = \sum_i \left(A_{ij} f_i^{(1)} + B_{ij} f_j^{(1)*} \right), \qquad (3.35)$$

$$f_j^{(2)*} = \sum_i \left(A_{ij}^* f_i^{(1)*} + B_{ij}^* f_j^{(1)} \right), \qquad (3.36)$$

and vice versa. The scalar field can be expressed using either set of solutions

$$\hat{\phi}(x) = \sum_{i} \left(\hat{a}_{i}^{(1)} f_{i}^{(1)}(x) + \hat{a}_{i}^{(1)\dagger} f_{i}^{(1)*}(x) \right) = \sum_{j} \left(\hat{a}_{j}^{(2)} f_{j}^{(2)}(x) + \hat{a}_{j}^{(2)\dagger} f_{j}^{(2)*}(x) \right).$$
(3.37)

Thus, the two sets of ladder operators are related as

$$\hat{a}_{i}^{(1)} = \sum_{j} \left(A_{ij} \hat{a}_{j}^{(2)} + B_{ij}^{*} \hat{a}_{j}^{(2)\dagger} \right), \qquad (3.38)$$

and similarly for the other operators. This transformation is a *Bogoliubov transformation*, which mixes creation and annihilation operators.

The two sets of solutions give rise to two different vacuum states, namely $|0_{(1)}\rangle$ and $|0_{(2)}\rangle$. The number operator $\hat{N}_i^{(1)} = \hat{a}_i^{(1)\dagger} \hat{a}_i^{(1)}$ gives 0 by construction when applied to the vacuum $|0_{(1)}\rangle$. But a short calculation shows that

$$\langle 0_{(2)} | N_i^{(1)} | 0_{(2)} \rangle = \sum_j |B_{ij}|^2.$$
 (3.39)

Thus, the vacuum of the set of solutions $\{f_j^{(2)}, f_j^{(2)*}\}$ is not necessarily a vacuum of the set $\{f_j^{(1)}, f_j^{(1)*}\}$. Minkowski space yields a natural choice for the positive frequency modes because of the global timelike Killing field $\xi^a = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$. But there exists another timelike Killing field defined in the regions |t| < z that plays the role of generating time translations for the accelerating observer. Therefore, these observers define different sets of positive frequency solutions which leads to the definition of different vacua and the measurement of a non-zero number of particles. The spectrum of particles measured by the accelerated observer can be shown to equal a thermal bath of temperature T_U .

The Hawking effect can be motivated easily using the Unruh effect (taken from [28]). For definiteness, consider an accelerated non-rotating observer hovering above a Schwarzschild black hole at a fixed distance r. If the observer is close to the horizon the acceleration a is very large and the timescale set by a^{-1} is much smaller than the Schwarzschild radius R_S . Therefore, spacetime curvature is effectively negligible over these length- and timescales and the static observer appears to be an accelerated observer in Minkowski spacetime, thus measuring an Unruh radiation at temperature $T_1 = \frac{a_1}{2\pi}$. The outgoing radiation will be redshifted by the norm of the timelike Killing vector $V = \sqrt{-\xi^a \xi_a}$, so that the ratio of temperatures measured by static observers at two different radii is given by $T_2/T_1 = V_1/V_2$. At infinity $V_2 = 1$ so that

$$T_{\infty} = \lim_{r_1 \to R_S} \frac{V_1 a_1}{2\pi} = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi}.$$
(3.40)

This is the Hawking temperature (with all constants restored)

$$T_H = \frac{\hbar\kappa}{2\pi ck_B} \tag{3.41}$$

of the black hole. An observer in the distance r_1 of the black holes will measure thermal radiation of temperature $T = \frac{T_H}{V_1}$. In a very crude manner Hawking radiation can be understood as spontaneous particle pair creation in the vicinity of the black hole. One of the particles has negative energy and will vanish behind the horizon to decrease the black hole's mass. The other particle will propagate to infinity and is interpreted as radiation originating from the black hole.

For a Schwarzschild black hole the Hawking temperature is $T_H \propto \frac{1}{8\pi GM}$, thus the temperature rises as the black hole's mass is radiated away. The timescale of this *black hole evaporation* can be estimated easily using Stefan's law

$$\frac{dE}{dt} \propto T^4 A. \tag{3.42}$$

For a Schwarzschild black hole one has: $E = M, A \propto M^2, T \propto M^{-1}$ and thus

$$\frac{dM}{dt} \propto -\frac{1}{M^2}.$$
(3.43)

Integration of this equation yields $\tau \propto M^3$ in Planck units. For a black hole of solar mass this is about 10^{53} times greater than the age of the universe.

The first law (3.28) can be rewritten using the above defined quantities of Bekenstein Hawking entropy $S_{BH} = \frac{A}{4}$ and Hawking temperature $T_H = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi}$ to yield

$$dM(S, J, Q) = T_H dS_{BH} + \Omega_H dJ + \Phi_H dQ.$$
(3.44)

This is no more a mere analogy to the first law of thermodynamics but the first law of thermodynamics applied to a black hole. T_H is the physical temperature of the black hole and S_{BH} is the physical entropy of the black hole. Boltzmann's law (3.1) asserts that the number of microstates compatible with a given macroscopic state is $\Omega \propto e^{A/4}$. Even for a solar mass black hole this is an enormous number. The origin of this black hole entropy is still unknown and the aim of intense research. A few lines of research shall be mentioned (see [11] for more references):

Black holes form in gravitational collapse from very complex objects like stars but are described by just a few numbers (at least those black holes that are included in the no-hair theorem). The black hole entropy is a remnant of the complexity of the black hole's origin and encodes the different ways that a black hole can be formed [103].

The black hole entropy has been linked to *entanglement entropy*. Entanglement entropy describes the correlation between two separated subsystems. In the case of black holes the subsystems are separated by the horizon, i.e. one subsystem is visible to an observer the other is hidden behind the horizon. Although the entropy turns out to be proportional to the area of the horizon a few problems remain (UV divergence of entanglement entropy, "species puzzle", etc.) See [123] for a recent review.

It was shown [83, 84] that a generalized form of the first law of black hole mechanics holds for any theory that can be derived from a diffeomorphism covariant Lagrangian, which can always be written in the form $L = L(g_{ab}; R_{abcd}, \nabla_a R_{bcde}, ...; \psi, \nabla_a \psi, ...)$, where ψ denote any matter fields present. It turns out that black hole entropy is the Noether charge of the diffeomorphism symmetry [140].

The proposition that sparked the most interest was the formulation of the *holographic principle* due to 't Hooft [128] and Susskind [126]. In its original form the holographic principle states that the number of degrees of freedom of every physical system is bounded by the boundary surface of the system measured in Planck units. The Bekenstein–Hawking entropy would then be the simplest example of this principle. In this form the holographic principle is ruled out. An alternative proposal that reduces to the above definition in most situations and circumvents its problems, is the *covariant entropy bound* proposed by Bousso [16]. For a review on the holographic principle see also [17].

A line of research where the holographic principle can be explicitly seen at work is the conjectured AdS/CFT correspondence, or more generally gauge/gravity duality. This duality states that a theory of gravity formulated in the bulk of spacetime is dual to a gauge theory on the conformal boundary of spacetime. The AdS/CFT correspondence is a particular realization of this duality, where the spacetime considered is Anti de Sitter space (AdS) and the gauge theory on the boundary is a conformal field theory (CFT). This duality was formulated for the first time in a now famous paper by Maldacena [97] as a correspondence between a N=4 Super-Yang–Mills theory in four dimensions on the boundary and a type IIb superstring theory in $AdS_5 \times S_5$. A first glimpse of this duality was already the realization that the asymptotic symmetry algebra of AdS_3 consists of two copies of the Virasoro algebra, the algebra of 2d CFT [19]. This result was later used to reproduce the Bekenstein–Hawking entropy for AdS_3 black holes by invoking the Cardy formula [124]. Gauge/gravity duality has been recently generalized and has produced a vast field of literature. The interested reader is referred to [2, 105, 113],

As can be seen from the last paragraph, AdS space plays an important role in the mentioned concepts. This is due to the interesting features of this spacetime, which will be presented in parts in the next section.

3.4 The Euclidean Path Integral and Black Hole Thermodynamics

Of all approaches to quantum gravity the Euclidean path integral is best suited to study thermodynamics. This technique was pioneered by Gibbons and Hawking [53, 74].

As known from quantum field theory, the path integral yields amplitudes for transitions between different physical states. In the case of gravity, the physical states are considered to be hypersurfaces S_1 , S_2 equipped with respective metrics g_1, g_2 in spacetime

$$\langle S_1, g_1 | S_2, g_2 \rangle = \int \mathcal{D}[g, \Phi] e^{iI[g, \Phi]}, \qquad (3.45)$$

where Φ denotes additional (matter) fields.

The action $I[g, \Phi]$ is real if Φ and g are both real and consequently, the path integral oscillates and does not converge. This behavior is known from ordinary quantum field theory where it is circumvented by Wick rotating the action, i.e. the time coordinate t is replaced by an imaginary coordinate τ . The same procedure solves the mentioned problem for the path integral (3.45). This redefinition of the time coordinate is equivalent to a change from Lorentzian signature (- + ++) to Euclidean signature (+ + ++) and replacement of the action $I[g, \Phi]$ with the Euclidean action $I_E[g, \Phi] = -iI[g, \Phi]$. If the Euclidean action were positive definite the integral (3.45) would converge. But this is not the case in Einstein gravity. This is explicitly seen, if the metric is conformally transformed $\tilde{g}_{ab} = \Omega^2 g_{ab}$. Under this transformation the action reads

$$I_E[\tilde{g}] = -\frac{1}{16\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^{d+1} x \sqrt{g} \Omega^2 R + 6\partial_a \Omega \partial^a \Omega - \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^d \sqrt{\gamma} \Omega^2 K.$$
(3.46)

If a rapidly varying conformal factor Ω is chosen the action is unbounded from below. An ad-hoc prescription for the removal of this divergence presented in [54] is the complex rotation of this conformal mode. Other proposals stress the point that the conformal mode is no propagating degree of freedom and can therefore be removed in a Fadeev-Popov like manner. After evaluation of the path integral, the results should be analytically continued back to Lorentzian signature.¹

The usefulness of the euclidean path integral in thermodynamic considerations is rooted in its close connection to the partition function. Consider the amplitude

$$\left\langle \Phi_2 \right| \exp\left(-iH(t_2 - t_1)\right) \left| \Phi_1 \right\rangle, \qquad (3.47)$$

with $\Phi_2 = \Phi_1$, i.e. a periodic field with periodicity $t_2 - t_1 = -i\beta$. Summation over a complete set of orthonormal states Φ_n with energy E_n leads to the partition function

$$\mathcal{Z} = \sum \exp\left(-\beta E_n\right),\tag{3.48}$$

with $\beta = T^{-1}$. The thermodynamic potential is then easily calculated from the partition function. For instance, for a system in the canonical ensemble, i.e. temperature and volume are fixed, the free energy F(T, V) is

$$\ln \mathcal{Z} = -\beta F(T, V). \tag{3.49}$$

But the amplitude (3.47) can be calculated also using the Euclidean path integral, where the integration is over fields with periodicity β in the imaginary time coordinate. Similar considerations can be applied to the gravitational field g_{ab} . A set of boundary conditions is fixed and the path integral samples all possible metrics that satisfy the boundary conditions. The temperature is determined by the requirement that no conical defects should occur. This fixes the periodicity of the Euclidean imaginary time to $\beta = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa}$.

For the treatment of thermodynamics the saddlepoint or WKB approximation of the path integral is invoked. The dominant contributions to the path integral come from the classical solutions $\bar{g}, \bar{\phi}$ of the system, that extremize the action. Therefore, the partition function is expanded around these solutions

$$\mathcal{Z} = \exp\left(-I[\bar{g},\bar{\Phi}]\right) \int \mathcal{D}\delta g \mathcal{D}\delta \Phi \exp\left(-\delta I[\bar{g},\bar{\Phi}] - \delta^2 I[\bar{g},\bar{\Phi}] + ...\right).$$
(3.50)

The variational principle demands that the first order variation of the action vanish onshell. However, this is in general not the case, neither for Einstein gravity nor for other theories of gravity such as dilaton gravity. Furthermore, the on-shell action will diverge in most cases. A detailed discussion of these properties of the action is carried out in section 5. Thermodynamic stability requires that the second order variation is positive definite. If this is not the case then the partition function does not describe the appropriate thermodynamic potential of the system but decay amplitudes. As the specific heat of the Schwarzschild black hole is negative the above applies here. This problem can be avoided if the black hole is studied in a cavity of fixed radius and temperature [148].

¹Needless to say, a Wick rotation singles out the time coordinate, which is contrary to the framework of general relativity. Presumably, a Wick rotation is well-defined only if the spacetime is endowed with a global timelike Killing field. In this work we are concerned with black hole solutions, which yield such a global notion of time.

In York's approach a cavity of fixed radius r, or area $A = 4\pi r^2$, and temperature T is given. If a black hole of mass M sits at the center of the cavity, this temperature is

$$T(r) = \frac{1}{8\pi M} (1 - \frac{2M}{r})^{-1/2}.$$
(3.51)

This is just the Hawking temperature of a Schwarzschild black hole redshifted by a Tolman factor. The classical solutions of Einstein's equations that obey these boundary conditions and can form in the cavity are given by the solutions for M of (3.51). In general, the solutions will be double valued. Depending on the quotient of r and T, either two black holes of masses M_1, M_2 with $M_1 < M_2$ or one black hole of mass $M_1 = M_2$ exist. It turns out that the lower mass solution M_1 is not stable.

The traditional way to eliminate the problems mentioned after (3.50) was the subtraction of the action evaluated for some reference spacetime— often the ground state— with the same boundary metric. The on-shell action is thus rendered finite. This procedure is somewhat analogous to the subtraction of the zero-point energy in quantum field theory. Despite yielding acceptable results in most cases, this technique is unsatisfactory to some extent. From a physical point of view, the introduction of a reference spacetime is contrary to the idea of background independence; from a mathematical point of view, the embedding of a given boundary metric into a reference spacetime is often not possible (e.g. for Taub–NUT spacetimes). It would be preferable, if the counterterms were constructed from quantities that are intrinsic to the boundary. This method, originating in the AdS/CFT correspondence, is called *holographic renormalization* and is treated in section 5. For the moment we stick to the subtraction method employed by York.

The action is the usual Einstein–Hilbert action with a GHY boundary term and the flat Euclidean spacetime as the reference spacetime for which the subtracted action is evaluated:

$$I = I_{EH} + I_{GHY} - (I_{EH} + I_{GHY})\Big|_{flat}.$$
(3.52)

Since Schwarzschild is Ricci-flat, only the boundary terms contribute and the on-shell action is

$$I = 12\pi M^2 - 8\pi M r + \beta r.$$
(3.53)

Therefore, $\exp(-I)$ is the dominant contribution to the partition function and from basic relations from statistical mechanics follow

$$\langle E \rangle = -\frac{\partial \ln \mathcal{Z}}{\partial \beta} = r - r \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r}\right)^{1/2},$$
(3.54)

$$S = \ln \mathcal{Z} - \beta \ln \mathcal{Z} = 4\pi M^2 = \pi r_h^2 \tag{3.55}$$

The first observation is that we recover the Bekenstein–Hawking entropy. This circumstance gave strong evidence that black hole thermodynamics was a meaningful concept since the Bekenstein–Hawking entropy was originally derived along independent lines of reasoning.

As a second interesting observation one can solve (3.54) for M

$$M = E - \frac{1}{2} \frac{E^2}{r}.$$
 (3.56)

Thus, we see that the ADM mass M is just the thermal energy plus the gravitational self energy of the thermal energy. In the limit of vanishing cavity, i.e. $r \to \infty$, the two equal each other.

If one defines the surface pressure σ conjugate to the area A of the cavity as $\sigma = -\frac{\partial E}{\partial A}\Big|_S$ we obtain

$$dE(S,A) = T dS - \sigma dA, \qquad (3.57)$$

or in the limit $r \to \infty$

$$\mathrm{d}M = T\,\mathrm{d}S,\tag{3.58}$$

the first law of thermodynamics for a finite cavity, and for the removed cavity.

The calculation of the free energy from the above allows the consideration of phase transitions between hot flat space and the two black hole spacetimes of different mass, first proposed in [60]. Notice that this phase transition is not to be mistaken for a gravitational collapse. The two black holes of different mass represent the extrema of free energy, where the free energy of the lower mass black hole is always higher than the free energy of the higher mass black hole. Under certain conditions the free energy of the latter is negative, which implies that the black hole of mass M_2 can nucleate from hot flat space where the black hole of mass M_1 represents a potential barrier between the two stable configurations [148].

This concludes our review of black hole thermodynamics. In section 6 an approach, based on the above, will be applied to black hole thermodynamics in dilaton gravity. Since the original part of this work concerns black holes in AdS spacetime, the next section deals with the cosmological constant.

4 The cosmological constant

4.1 The cosmological constant problem

As mentioned in the introduction, the small value of the cosmological constant poses one of the greatest challenges in theoretical physics. The naively predicted value of the cosmological constant drastically deviates from the experimental measurements by approximately 120 orders of magnitude. A crude estimate of the magnitude of Λ based on field theoretic grounds is given as follows: A quantum field Φ is usually quantized as the sum over an infinite number of harmonic oscillators. The Hamiltonian H is then

$$H = \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \omega_{\boldsymbol{p}} \frac{1}{2} \left(a_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{\dagger} a_{\boldsymbol{p}} - a_{\boldsymbol{p}} a_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{\dagger} \right) = \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \omega_{\boldsymbol{p}} \left(a_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{\dagger} a_{\boldsymbol{p}} + \frac{1}{2} \left[a_{\boldsymbol{p}}, a_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{\dagger} \right] \right), \quad (4.1)$$

in terms of creation and annihilation operators. The last term is proportional to $\delta(0)$ and divergent, which was expected since it corresponds to an infinite sum over all ground state energies $\omega_p/2$. In quantum field theory one is only interested in the energy *differences* of various states. Therefore, this infinite zero point energy can be discarded by the introduction of *normal ordering*. For gravity the case is not so easy as it should couple to all energies, even vacuum fluctuations. The vacuum energy must be taken into account by introducing a vacuum energy momentum tensor $T_{ab}^{(vac)}$ of the form

$$T_{ab}^{(vac)} = -\rho_{vac}g_{ab}.$$
(4.2)

This form is dictated by the requirement that the vacuum be Lorentz invariant. Denoting energy density, pressure and velocity vector by ρ , p and u_a , respectively, this corresponds to the energy momentum tensor of a perfect fluid of the form

$$T_{ab} = (\rho + p)u_a u_b + pg_{ab}, \tag{4.3}$$

with $\rho_{vac} = -p_{vac}$. This is added to the matter energy momentum tensor $T^{(m)}$ in Einstein's equation as a separate contribution

$$G_{ab} = 8\pi G \left(T^{(m)} - \rho_{vac} g_{ab} \right).$$
(4.4)

Now, written on the left hand side and setting

$$\rho_{vac} = -p_{vac} = \frac{\Lambda}{8\pi G} \tag{4.5}$$

this is Einstein's equation with a cosmological constant. It is generally believed that quantum field theory is only valid up to some cutoff momentum p_{max} . If modes of higher energy than this are discarded the vacuum energy is approximately $\rho_{vac} \propto \hbar p_{max}^4$. If the cutoff scale is taken to be the Planck scale $m_P = 10^{19} GeV$ the vacuum energy density is $\rho_{vac} \approx 10^{120} \ GeV/m^3$. Experimentally, the vacuum energy density is expressed in terms of the critical density $\rho_{crit} = \frac{3H^2}{8\pi\rho G}$, where H is the Hubble parameter. The critical density is the energy density of a spatially flat universe for a given Hubble parameter. Current measurements of the density parameter $\Omega_{\Lambda} = \frac{\rho_{\Lambda}}{\rho_c}$ yield $\Omega_{\Lambda} = 0.73(3)$ [12]. With a measured value of ρ_c of about $\rho_c \approx 5.3 GeV/m^3$ [12], the cosmological constants deviates about 120 orders of magnitude from its naively predicted value. This is known as the *cosmological* constant problem. It goes without saying that this discrepancy cries out for a solution. Consequently, various mechanisms have been developed to accommodate this conflict. Some of these are the subject of the next section.

4.2 A Changing Cosmological Constant

The starting point for the present work is the idea of considering the cosmological constant as a variable quantity presented in [77, 78]. As they point out, if Λ is to be regarded as a variable quantity it should be possible to vary it in the action. In the usual Einstein–Hilbert action

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G_4} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \sqrt{-g} \left(R - 2\Lambda \right) \tag{4.6}$$

this is not possible, as a variation of Λ would lead to g = 0, which is not possible. A simple mechanism that allows for this variation is the coupling of gravity to a completely antisymmetric gauge field $A_{\mu\nu\rho}$ with action

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G_4} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(R + \frac{1}{4!2} F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} F^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \right), \qquad (4.7)$$

where $F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} = \partial_{[\mu}A_{\nu\lambda\rho]}$. The solution of $F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ has the form

$$F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} = \frac{2\sqrt{3}}{L} \sqrt{-g}^{1/2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}, \qquad (4.8)$$

where L is an integration of constant and additional factors were introduced for convenience. Inserted back into (4.7), we obtain (4.6) with $\Lambda = \frac{3}{L^2}$. In this framework, the variation of the cosmological constant is on the same footing as the variation of an electric charge. The addition of another field that can vary leads to a different variational principle. Henneaux and Teitelboim treated the variational problem of the above action (4.7) in the Hamiltonian framework in detail.

Further work in [21] showed that the above implementation of a cosmological constant could be used to account for a dynamical neutralization. The totally antisymmetric tensor field gives rise to the spontaneous creation of closed membranes where the value of the cosmological constant is inside smaller than outside. The action principle in D dimensions relevant for this model reads

$$S = -m \int d^{d}\xi \sqrt{-g^{(d)}} + \frac{e}{d!} \int d^{d}\xi A_{\mu_{1},\dots,\mu_{d}} \left(\frac{\partial z^{\mu_{1}}}{\partial \xi^{a_{1}}} \dots \frac{\partial z^{\mu_{d}}}{\partial \xi^{a_{d}}}\right) \epsilon^{a_{1}\dots a_{d}} - \frac{1}{2D!} \int d^{D}x \sqrt{-g} F_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{D}} F^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{D}} + \frac{1}{d!} \int d^{D}x \partial_{\mu_{1}} \left(\sqrt{-g} F^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{D}} A_{\mu_{2}\dots\mu_{D}}\right) + S_{grav}(\lambda).$$

$$(4.9)$$

The d-dimensional membrane, with coordinates $\xi^a, d = 0, ..., d - 1$ on the membrane, is embedded in the D=d+1 dimensional spacetime using the embedding function $x^{\mu} = z^{\mu}(\xi^a)$. The induced metric on the membrane is denoted as $g_{ab}^{(d)}$. Additionally, the membrane has the mass *m* per unit volume, and *e* defines the strength of the coupling. The total derivative is included in order to guarantee a well defined variational principle and $S_{grav}(\lambda)$ is the usual action for gravity with a cosmological constant λ . This cosmological constant is generated through other processes not considered in this model. The most general form of the totally antisymmetric field F_{μ_1,\ldots,μ_D} is

$$F_{\mu_1,\dots,\mu_D} = E\sqrt{-g}\epsilon_{\mu_1,\dots,\mu_D}.$$
(4.10)

When inserted into the field equation for the gauge field A_{μ_1,\dots,μ_d} one obtains

$$\epsilon^{\mu_1,\dots,\mu_D}(\partial_{\mu_1}E) = -e \int \mathrm{d}^d \xi \delta^{(D)}(x-z(\xi)) \left(\frac{\partial z^{\mu_1}}{\partial \xi^{a_1}} \dots \frac{\partial z^{\mu_d}}{\partial \xi^{a_d}}\right) \epsilon^{a_1\dots a_d}.$$
 (4.11)

This means that E is constant away from the membrane and jumps to a different value when crossing the membrane.

Ignoring the effects of gravity for the moment, in 2 dimensions this corresponds to spontaneous pair creation in an external electric field. The electric field between these particles is E_i while the electric field outside is denoted by E_o . The difference is

$$E_i - E_o = -|e|\operatorname{sgn} E_o. \tag{4.12}$$

Since the particles accelerate outwards the region with a lower field strength grows. This process can be understood as instanton tunneling between two classical configurations. In a semiclassical approximation the probability for this transition is given by

$$P \sim \exp\left(-(S_E(instanton) - S_E(background))/\hbar\right),\tag{4.13}$$

where S_E denotes the classical Euclidean action evaluated on some field configuration. The calculation is carried out in detail in [21] with the result

$$P \sim \exp\left(-\frac{\pi m^2}{\hbar |eE_{on}|}\right),\tag{4.14}$$

where E_{on} is the average of E_i and E_o . This is —not surprisingly— the same result as for Schwinger pair creation in an external electric field [120]. Adding gravity to this picture, the value of the cosmological constant inside and outside the membrane, respectively, is given by

$$\Lambda_i = \lambda + \frac{1}{2}k(E_i)^2 \qquad \Lambda_o = \lambda + \frac{1}{2}k(E_o)^2, \tag{4.15}$$

where k denotes the factor appearing in Einstein's equations, i.e. $k = 8\pi G$ in D = 4. Again, one can calculate the probability for spontaneous bubble creation. In the case that the initial spacetime is flat or AdS, $\Lambda_o \leq 0$, membranes are created only for specific initial values Λ_o, E_o satisfying the condition

$$|eE_0| \ge \frac{e^2}{2} + \frac{kdm^2}{2(d-1)} + m\sqrt{-\frac{2d\Lambda_o}{d-1}}.$$
(4.16)

These bubbles always reduce the cosmological constant, i.e. $\Lambda_o > \Lambda_i$. If the initial geometry is de Sitter, membrane creation can both increase and decrease the cosmological

constant, but it can be shown that the latter is much more likely to occur. Brown and Teitelboim used this fact to explain for the nearly vanishing value of the cosmological constant. Unfortunately, the timescales to decrease Λ from some initial de Sitter spacetime to the nearly flat geometry observed today is of order exp (10¹²⁰) in Planck units. Additionally, in order to explain the current small value of the cosmological constant, the membrane charges must be extremely small compared to other microphysical scales.

The above mechanism garnered a large amount of related ideas. A well-known work [18], proposed the quantization of E based on arguments originating from string theory. They showed that the addition of multiple four fields with different coupling constants allowed for richer and potentially more realistic dynamics since the charges of the membranes need not be small anymore.

As mentioned above, pair creation in 2 dimensions or membrane creation in higher dimensions requires tunneling through a potential barrier related to instantons. A different mechanism for membrane creation in de Sitter space was proposed in [55]. Instead of tunneling through the potential barrier, a thermal fluctuation provides the necessary energy for membrane creation. Under specific circumstances a pair of membranes is created, where the outer membrane expands and the inner membrane collapses to form a black hole, in the space between the membranes the value of the cosmological constant is lowered. The mass of the black hole created when the cosmological constant is changed from Λ_+ to Λ_- , is given by

$$M = \frac{1}{6} \frac{\Lambda_{+} - \Lambda_{-} + 3\mu^{2}}{\left(\frac{\Lambda_{+}}{3} + \mu^{2}\right)^{3/2}},$$
(4.17)

where μ is the tension of the membrane (cf. [56] for details). One can think of this process as a transformation of unlocalized dark energy, represented by the cosmological constant, into localized matter in the form of black holes [56].

Apart from the above, a dynamical cosmological constant has implications that are directly related to black hole physics. If the cosmological constant is treated on the same footing as the charge of a gauge field or angular momentum its variation should be included in the first law of thermodynamics. Since black hole thermodynamics is not well understood for de Sitter spacetimes due to the appearance of the cosmological horizon, only black holes in AdS space are treated in the following.

4.2.1 The Cosmological Constant as a Thermodynamic Variable

In section 3.2.2 the first law of thermodynamics was derived making use of the Smarr formula (3.25) and Euler's theorem (3.26). Here we use a similar argument. Consider a Schwarzschild black hole in AdS_{d+1} of mass M and horizon area A (charge Q and angular momentum J do not change the argument). If we include the cosmological constant Λ as a thermodynamic variable we have $M = M(A, \Lambda)$. Under a change of length scale L the cosmological constant changes as $\Lambda \propto L^{-2}$, which can be derived from the action (4.6), whereas M and A scale as described below equation (3.26). The application of Euler's theorem yields

$$(d-2)M = (d-1)\left(\frac{\partial M}{\partial A}\right)A - 2\left(\frac{\partial M}{\partial \Lambda}\right)\Lambda$$
(4.18)

$$= (d-1)\frac{\kappa}{8\pi G}A - 2\Theta\Lambda, \tag{4.19}$$

where we have used results from 3.2.2 and defined $\Theta = \frac{\partial M}{\partial \Lambda}$. Since one should include the scaling properties of all quantities appearing in M, the cosmological constant must be included in the Smarr formula. In the following, the results of [89]—where a geometric expression for Θ was obtained using the Hamiltonian perturbation theory of [134, 135]are reviewed in detail, since they constitute an important result for this work. The starting point is the usual Hamiltonian split of spacetime into a family of spacelike surfaces Σ with timelike normal vector n^a and $n^a n_a = -1$. The spacetime metric g_{ab} is therefore split as

$$g_{ab} = -n_a n_b + s_{ab}, \qquad s_{ab} n^a = 0 \tag{4.20}$$

where s_{ab} is the induced metric on Σ . The Hamiltonian and momentum constraints,

$$H = -2Gabn^a n^b \qquad H_a = -2G_{bc}n^b sc_a, \tag{4.21}$$

respectively, read

$$H = -2\Lambda \qquad H_a = 0, \tag{4.22}$$

if a cosmological constant is included and the stress energy tensor $T_{ab} = 0$. The Hamiltonian density \mathcal{H} for evolution along the vector field $\xi^a = Fn^a + \beta^a$ is

$$\mathcal{H} = \sqrt{s}(F(H+2\Lambda) + \beta^a H_a), \qquad (4.23)$$

where F and β are the usual lapse and shift functions. The canonical variables are s_{ab} and

its conjugate momentum π_{ab} . Consider the solution $s_{ab}^{(0)}$, $\pi_{(0)}^{(ab)}$ with cosmological constant $\Lambda_{(0)}$ and Killing vector ξ^a , along which the system is evolved. Furthermore, we define

$$\xi^a = \nabla_b \omega^{ab}, \tag{4.24}$$

where the quantity ω^{ab} is called the Killing potential [8, 88]. This potential is not unique, as a different potential $\omega'^{ab} = \omega^{ab} + \lambda^{ab}$ yields the same Killing vector, provided that $\nabla_a \lambda^{ab} = 0$. A small perturbation around this solution reads $s_{ab} = s_{ab}^{(0)} + h_{ab}, \pi^{ab} = \pi_{(0)}^{ab} + p^{ab}$ and $\Lambda = \Lambda + \Lambda_{(0)}$. The linearized constraint operators δH and δH_a can be written as a total derivative

$$F\delta H + \beta^a \delta H_a = -D_c B^c, \tag{4.25}$$

where D_c is the covariant derivative compatible with $s_{ab}^{(0)}$ and the vector field B^c is

$$B^{a} = F(D^{a}h - D_{b}h^{ab}) + hD^{a}F + h^{ab}D_{b}F + \frac{1}{\sqrt{s}}\beta^{b}\left(\pi^{cd}_{(0)}h_{cd}s^{(0)a}_{b} - 2\pi^{ac}_{(0)}h_{bc} - 2p^{a}_{b}\right), \quad (4.26)$$
where h denotes the trace of the perturbation h_{ab} . For the above constraints this reduces to

$$D_c B^b = 2F\delta\Lambda,\tag{4.27}$$

if the perturbations are solutions of the linearized Einstein equations. The right hand side can be rewritten as a total derivative using the Killing potential and the expression is rewritten using Gauß' law as

$$d\int_{\partial\Sigma} \mathrm{d}a_c \left(B^c + 2\omega^{cd} n_d \delta \Lambda \right) = 0. \tag{4.28}$$

The unperturbed solution is taken to be a static asymptotically AdS black hole. The perturbations around this solution should satisfy the same boundary conditions. The Killing vector ξ^a , along which the system is evolved, is taken to be the generator of the horizon, that approaches $\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right)^a$ asymptotically. The boundary $\partial \Sigma$ in the above integral consists of a sphere at infinity $\partial \Sigma_{\infty}$ and the bifurcation two sphere at the horizon $\partial \Sigma_h$. Thus, the above integral can be rewritten as

$$I_{\infty} - I_h = 0. (4.29)$$

The calculation of these quantities yields [89, 125, 135]

$$I_{\infty} = -16\pi\delta M - 2\left(\int_{\partial\Sigma_{\infty}} \mathrm{d}S_{ab}(\omega^{ab} - \omega^{ab}_{AdS})\right)\delta\Lambda \tag{4.30}$$

$$I_h = -2\kappa\delta A - 2\left(\int_{\partial\Sigma_h} \mathrm{d}S_{ab}\omega^{ab}\right). \tag{4.31}$$

Here, the Killing potential of pure AdS is taken to be

$$\omega_{AdS}^{rt} = -\omega_{AdS}^{tr} = \frac{r}{d}.$$
(4.32)

Inserted in equation (4.29) this is

$$\delta M = \frac{\kappa}{8\pi} \delta A + \frac{\Theta}{8\pi} \delta \Lambda, \tag{4.33}$$

with Θ given by the expression

$$\Theta = -\left[\int_{\partial \Sigma_{\infty}} \mathrm{d}S_{ab}(\omega^{ab} - \omega^{ab}_{AdS}) - \int_{\partial \Sigma_{h}} \mathrm{d}S_{ab}\omega^{ab}\right].$$
(4.34)

This is the first law of black hole thermodynamics with a varying cosmological constant.

The above expression for Θ implies a simple physical interpretation for the variable conjugate to Λ . If the slicing of spacetime is orthogonal to the Killing vector field $\xi^a = Fn^a$, we have $\sqrt{-g^{d+1}} = F\sqrt{g^d}$. Thus, we have the relation

$$\int_{\partial \Sigma} \mathrm{d}S_{ab} \omega^{ab} = \int_{\Sigma} \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{g^d} n_b \xi^b = -\int_{\Sigma} \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{g^{d+1}}.$$
(4.35)

This is the infinite volume between the black hole horizon and infinity. From this quantity the infinite volume of AdS space is subtracted. The remaining finite volume is the volume excluded from spacetime due to the presence of the black hole. This provides a nice definition for the volume of a black hole. Inside the event horizon the radial coordinate is timelike, thus the naive definition of a volume by integrating from r = 0 to $r = r_h$ makes no sense. Nonetheless, the above considerations suggest the definition

$$V_{BH} = -\Theta \tag{4.36}$$

for a *thermodynamic volume* of a black hole in AdS space.

From comparison with the stress energy tensor of a perfect fluid in Einstein's equation one can associate the pressure

$$P = -\frac{\Lambda}{8\pi} \tag{4.37}$$

with the cosmological constant. Together with the above relations this leads to the intriguing form

$$dM(S,P) = T dS + V dP.$$
(4.38)

The dependence on the state variables S and P is characteristic for the enthalpy commonly denoted by H = H(T, P) = E + PV. Thus, the mass of a black hole in AdS space is identified with enthalpy rather than with internal energy as usually done in black hole thermodynamics (cf. section 6.2.2). In [89] the above result is interpreted in the way that the definition of the AdS mass via a surface integral at infinity requires a subtraction of the infinite amount of energy contained in AdS between the black hole horizon and infinity in order to give a finite quantity. Since energy density and pressure in the cosmological constant differ by a sign, the addition of a PV term cancels the contribution of ρV . In other words [45], the mass of the black hole contains a contribution due to the negative energy density of AdS space. A black hole with volume V contains energy $\epsilon V = -PV$, thus the internal energy is E = M - PV.

Consider the line element of AdS Schwarzschild in d+1 dimensions

$$ds^{2} = -f(r) dt^{2} + f(r)^{-1} dr^{2} + r^{2} d\Omega_{d-2}^{2} \qquad f(r) = 1 - \frac{\mu}{r^{d-2}} - \frac{2\Lambda}{d(d-1)}r^{2}, \qquad (4.39)$$

where the mass parameter μ is related to the mass of spacetime M via

$$M = \frac{(d-1)\mathcal{A}_{d-1}\mu}{16\pi},$$
(4.40)

and A_{d-1} is the angle subtended by the S_{d-1} sphere. (The AdS Schwarzschild black holes [15] with different topology, where 1 in f(r) is replaced by k = 0, -1 will not be discussed in the remainder of this work). In 3+1 dimensions we obtain

$$M = \frac{r_h}{2} \left(1 - \frac{\Lambda}{3} r_h^2 \right) \tag{4.41}$$

Pressure and entropy are given by (4.37) and Bekenstein-Hawking

$$S = \pi r_h^2, \tag{4.42}$$

respectively. We apply the result (4.38) to AdS Schwarzschild in 3+1 dimensions. This yields

$$T = \frac{\partial M}{\partial S}\Big|_{P} = \frac{1 - \Lambda r_{h}^{2}}{4\pi r_{h}},\tag{4.43}$$

$$V = \frac{\partial M}{\partial P}\Big|_{S} = \frac{4\pi r_{h}^{3}}{3},\tag{4.44}$$

which is the correct temperature T for AdS Schwarzschild and the volume V that one would expect naively. This is easily shown to be true for all AdS Schwarzschild black holes. One obtains for the volume

$$V = \frac{\partial M}{\partial P}\Big|_{S} = \frac{A_{d-1}}{d}r_{h}^{d},\tag{4.45}$$

which is the correct relation for the volume of a ball in d- dimensional Euclidean spacetime. (Analogous results hold for BTZ black holes in 2+1 dimensions cf. [45].) For definiteness, the following discussion is restricted to black holes in 3+1 dimensions with straightforward generalization to higher dimensions.

A Legendre transform of (4.41) with respect to P yields the internal energy

$$E(S,V) = \frac{r_h}{2}.$$
 (4.46)

Here, a problem of the current approach is evident: the two thermodynamic variables V and S are not independent, since both are functions of r_h and can therefore expressed in terms of each other. Therefore, the Legendre transform is not invertible and the temperature obtained from the internal energy is not correct. This problem is not present if one considers rotating black holes in AdS space. Then the thermodynamic volume depends on r_h and angular momentum J which allows variations of V with S fixed and vice versa. In rotating black hole spacetimes one can distinguish between the thermodynamic volume V, obtained as the conjugate variable to P, and the naive geometrical volume V'.

An important quantity for thermodynamical stability is heat capacity at constant pressure and volume, respectively. These are easily calculated to

$$C_V = \frac{T}{\frac{\partial T}{\partial S}\Big|_V} = 0 \tag{4.47}$$

$$C_P = \frac{T}{\frac{\partial T}{\partial S}\Big|_P} = 2S\left(\frac{8PS+1}{8PS-1}\right). \tag{4.48}$$

We require $C_P > 0$, if the black hole is to be stable in AdS space. From this follows

$$|\Lambda| > \frac{1}{r_h^2},\tag{4.49}$$

which implies a minimal temperature

$$T_{min} = \frac{1}{2\pi}\sqrt{-\Lambda} = \sqrt{\frac{2P}{\pi}} \tag{4.50}$$

The issue of stability in AdS space was treated in detail in the seminal work by Hawking and Page [73] where they showed that no black hole can form below T_{min} and the free energy of pure AdS space is lower for $T < T_{HP}$, where the Hawking–Page temperature is given by

$$T_{HP} = \frac{1}{\pi} \sqrt{-\frac{\Lambda}{3}} = \sqrt{\frac{8P}{3\pi}}.$$
 (4.51)

We now turn to discuss rotating asymptotically AdS black holes. The mass of a charged rotating asymptotically AdS black hole in 3+1 dimensions expressed in terms of S, J, Q, P is [45]

$$H(S, P, J, Q) = M = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\left(S + \pi Q^2 + \frac{8PS^2}{3}\right) + 4\pi^2 \left(1 + \frac{8PS}{3}\right) J^2}{\pi S}}.$$
 (4.52)

The volume that follows from this enthalpy is

$$V = \frac{\partial H}{\partial P}\Big|_{S,J,Q} = \frac{2}{3\pi H} \left(S \left(S + \pi Q^2 + \frac{8PS^2}{3} \right) + 2\pi^2 J^2 \right).$$
(4.53)

Obviously, V and S are now independent functions. In the limit $J \to 0$ this reduces to

$$V = \frac{4}{3} \frac{S^{3/2}}{\sqrt{\pi}} = \frac{4\pi}{3} r_h^3 \tag{4.54}$$

and V and S are not independent anymore. The fact that thermodynamic volume and naive geometric volume, denoted V and V' in the following, equal each other seems to be an artifact of the J = 0 approximation.

An analogue of the Penrose process, where energy is extracted from a rotating black hole, was calculated in [43]. Work can be extracted in an isentropic, isobaric process, if the angular momentum is reduced from a finite value to zero. The efficiency of this process is

$$\eta = \frac{E(J) - E(0)}{H(J)}$$
(4.55)

The greatest efficiency is obtained for extremal black holes

$$\eta = \frac{4\pi\ell^2 + 3S}{2(2\pi\ell^2 + 3S)} - \frac{\pi\ell^2}{(\pi\ell^2 + S)\sqrt{2\pi\ell^2 + 3S}},\tag{4.56}$$

where we used the AdS radius ℓ . In the limit $\ell \to \infty$ the flat space result (3.7) is reproduced. The efficiency is always greater in AdS space with a maximum efficiency of $\eta = 0.58$. The reason for this is the greater value of J for extremal black holes in AdS compared with flat space. For charged rotating black holes the maximal efficiency can be pushed up to $\eta = 0.75$ compared to $\eta = 0.5$ for flat space.

The behavior of charged black holes in AdS space was compared to a liquid gas system governed by a van der Waals equation in [32]. The similarities were rather of mathematical than of physical nature as different quantities had to be identified, e.g. charge Q with the fluid temperature or inverse temperature β with fluid pressure. If one considers a phase space extended by P and V these discrepancies vanish [94]. The equation of state can be



Figure 5. Temperature decreases from top to bottom. T_c denotes the critical isotherm. The dashed lines correspond to ideal gas behavior (taken from [94]).

written as P = P(V,T) and shows a behavior very similar to a van der Waals equation (cf. Figure 5). The critical exponents, which determine the behavior near the critical point (T_c, V_c) , turn out to equal those of a van der Waals fluid. This is another indication that pressure and volume should be included in the first law of black hole thermodynamics.

As another application of the thermodynamic volume, the status of the isoperimetric inequality in black hole physics can be investigated. The isoperimetric inequality is the well known statement in Euclidean geometry that the ball has the largest volume for a given boundary area. In general, in d space dimensions

$$R \le 1 \qquad R = \left(\frac{dV}{\mathcal{A}_{d-1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{d}} \left(\frac{\mathcal{A}_{d-1}}{A}\right)^{\frac{1}{d-1}},\tag{4.57}$$

with equality if the domain is a ball. This equality was tested for a number of black hole spacetimes in [37]. If the volume is taken to be the geometric volume V' than all Kerr-AdS black holes satisfy the isoperimetric inequality $R \leq 1$. On the other hand, if the thermodynamic volume V is used to test the inequality it turns out that it is violated in all cases studied. This led the authors of [37] to conjecture the *reverse isoperimetric inequality*, that states that all black hole in AdS space satisfy $R \geq 1$ with equality for Schwarzschild-AdS. In other words, given a fixed thermodynamic volume the horizon entropy is maximized for AdS- Schwarzschild. Similar calculations were performed for black holes in de Sitter spacetime [46]. The authors showed that the thermodynamic volume between cosmological and event horizon equals the geometric volume. All studied black holes satisfy the reverse isoperimetric inequality provided either the thermodynamic volume of the cosmological horizon or the thermodynamic volume of the event horizon is used. If the volume between the two horizons is used, black holes in de Sitter space satisfy the usual isoperimetric inequality. The aim of this work is the study of 2d dilaton gravity with the cosmological constant treated as a varying quantity based on a well defined action principle. In order to have a well posed action principle a few conditions have to be satisfied, which might require additional terms to be added to the action. The study of these boundary terms is the subject of the next section.

5 The Variational Principle and Boundary Terms

The variational principle is one of the most fundamental and ubiquitous concepts of physics. Consequently, one expects a physically relevant theory to give rise to a well-defined variational principle. The usual starting point for a variational principle in the Lagrangian framework is the definition of an action functional I as the integral over some Lagrangian density \mathcal{L}

$$I[\Phi, \partial\Phi] = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^{d} x \mathcal{L}(\Phi, \partial\Phi), \qquad (5.1)$$

where Φ denotes the field content of the theory considered. The classical solutions of the system are then found by considering small variations in the fields and demanding that the action be stationary. Boundary terms are usually eliminated by the requirement that the fields vanish sufficiently fast. Thus, setting to zero the first variation of the action

$$\delta I[\Phi, \partial \Phi] = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^d x A_{\Phi}(\Phi, \partial \Phi) \delta \Phi = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow A_{\Phi}(\Phi, \partial \Phi) = 0 \tag{5.2}$$

yields the equations of motion $A_{\Phi}(\Phi, \delta \Phi) = 0$.

This procedure is arguably well justified in the case that one is only interested in the local bulk behavior of the theory, which is governed by the equations of motion. Boundary conditions are then taken into account when solving the equations of motion.

However, it is obvious that the above approach has its drawbacks. First and foremost, due to boundary terms, that appear by partial integration, the first variation of the action might not be zero. Secondly, in the application of the variational principle one should spell out clearly which quantities are to be held fixed at the boundary (Dirichlet-, Neumann-, Robin-boundary conditions etc.) and which quantities are allowed to fluctuate. The number of boundary data required to render the variational principle well-posed equals the degrees of freedom of the theory. This is not clear in the above procedure. Additionally, particularly with regard to the path integral in semi-classical approximation, one demands that the leading contribution, i.e. the on-shell action, be finite. This is also not guaranteed in an approach that relies only on the bulk Lagrangian without additional counterterms.

In summary, an action principle will be called well-posed if it obeys the following criteria:

- 1. A set of boundary data with appropriate boundary conditions (Dirichlet, Neumann, mixed etc.) is defined.
- 2. The first variation of the action vanishes on-shell for all variations of the fields that preserve the boundary conditions.
- 3. The leading contribution to the semi-classical approximation, i.e. the on-shell action, is finite.
- 4. The second order variation of the action is positive definite.

In general, a given bulk action will not satisfy the above conditions. These drawbacks can be remedied, if the action is supplemented with boundary terms. These terms do not change the physical bulk content since the equations of motion remain unchanged. In the case of black hole thermodynamics, the last problem can be solved as was seen in section 3.4.

In the context of general relativity, the need to supplement the Einstein-Hilbert (EH) action with a boundary term, in order to satisfy the first condition, was first observed by York [147]. Further work in this direction was later carried out by Gibbons and Hawking [53]. The resulting boundary terms is the well-known Gibbons-Hawking-York (GHY) boundary term.

But the addition of a GHY boundary term to the action does not guarantee that the second condition is fulfilled. In the Hamiltonian framework, the corresponding counterterm was first considered by Arnowitt, Deser and Misner [41, 42] in the context of their calculations of the ADM mass, momentum and angular momentum. Regge and Teitelboim [115] later showed that this boundary term is essential if the Hamiltonian is required to be stationary under asymptotically flat boundary conditions.

In the Lagrangian formalism the appropriate counterterms — commonly called *holo-graphic counterterms*— were considered only much later by various authors for diverse boundary conditions (cf. 5.2.2 for references).

In the following, the roles of the two different classes of counterterms will be clarified with an example from classical mechanics before turning to the form of the counterterms in dilaton gravity.

5.1 Gibbons–Hawking–York boundary term

Though fairly well known, we present the reasoning behind the introduction of the GHY boundary term in order to point out the difference to the holographic counterterms.

Consider a simple classical mechanical system with a Lagrangian given by

$$S = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{t_i}^{t_f} \mathrm{d}t q \ddot{q} \tag{5.3}$$

Variation of the action leads to

$$\delta S = \frac{1}{2} (\dot{q} \delta q - q \delta \dot{q}) \Big|_{t_i}^{t_f} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{t_i}^{t_f} \mathrm{d}t \ \ddot{q} \delta q, \tag{5.4}$$

which shows that this is just a disguised action for the free particle $\ddot{q} = 0$. Notice that the equation of motion is just of second order, although the Lagrangian is also of second order. The reason for this is that the second order term is introduced via the addition of a total derivative to the Lagrangian of a free particle

$$L = \frac{1}{2}\dot{q}^2 - \frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}(\dot{q}q) = -\frac{1}{2}q\ddot{q}$$
(5.5)

Nonetheless, if we are interested in a well-defined variational principle the boundary term should vanish after we have chosen suitable boundary conditions, that allow for solutions of the equation of motion. If we were to fix the data $q(t_i), q(t_f), \dot{q}(t_i), \dot{q}(t_f)$ we would

provide four conditions for a second order equation, which would render the equation unsolvable in most cases. The boundary condition $-\frac{1}{2}q^2\delta\left(\frac{\dot{q}}{q}\right)\Big|_{t_i}^{t_f} = 0$ for example, would annihilate the boundary term but allows for no solutions to the equation $\ddot{q} = 0$. Actually, one can show that no combination of q and \dot{q} exists that allows for solutions and annihilates the boundary term [48]. The only viable solution is the addition of a boundary term of the form $\frac{1}{2}(q\dot{q})\Big|_{t_i}^{t_f}$ to the action. This solves both problems since the variation δS reads

$$\delta S = \dot{q} \delta q \Big|_{t_i}^{t_f} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{t_i}^{t_f} \mathrm{d}t \ \ddot{q} \delta q.$$
(5.6)

Upon requiring Dirichlet boundary conditions $\delta q \Big|_{t_i}^{t_f} = 0$, the boundary term clearly vanishes and the equation of motion yields a solution.

The above example is similar to the problems encountered in the variation of the EHaction.

$$S_{EH} = -\frac{1}{16\pi G_d} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{|g|} \ R \tag{5.7}$$

The curvature scalar R contains second order derivatives of the metric that stem from the addition of a total derivative. Surprisingly, Einstein [49] first used the action

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{|g|} H = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{|g|} g^{\alpha\beta} (\Gamma^{\nu}_{\mu\alpha} \Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\beta} - \Gamma^{\mu}_{\mu\nu} \Gamma^{\nu}_{\alpha\beta}), \tag{5.8}$$

which is of first order in $g_{\mu\nu}$ and differs from (5.7) by a total derivative

$$H = R - \nabla_{\alpha} (g^{\mu\nu} \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} - g^{\alpha\mu} \Gamma^{\nu}_{\mu\nu}).$$
(5.9)

Thus, the case is similar to the classical example presented above and a well defined action principle requires the addition of a boundary term as can be verified by a straightforward calculation.

In the case of pure Einstein gravity, the action supplemented with a GHY boundary term reads

$$I_{EH+GHY} = -\frac{1}{16\pi G_d} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{|g|} \ R - \frac{1}{8\pi G_d} \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^{d-1} x \sqrt{|\gamma|} K, \tag{5.10}$$

where γ denotes the induced metric on the boundary and K the *extrinsic curvature* or *second fundamental form*. Similarly, one can easily convince oneself that the dilaton action (6.1) studied in the next section needs a related boundary term.

After this digression concerning the GHY boundary term that renders the action principle well-posed we turn to the discussion of the second kind of counterterms mentioned above. Only when supplemented with these counterterms, the first variation of the action vanishes on-shell for all variations compatible with the boundary conditions. Furthermore, the on-shell action remains finite.

5.2 Holographic counterterms

5.2.1 Hamilton–Jacobi counterterm: a toy example

In the same way as done for the GHY boundary term, we will introduce the notion of holographic counterterms with an example from classical mechanics taken from [63].

Consider the action

$$I[q] = \int_{t_i}^{t_f} dt \left(\frac{\dot{q}}{2} - \frac{1}{q^2}\right).$$
 (5.11)

This action describes a particle in the potential $V(q) = \frac{1}{q^2}$. For sufficiently large q the potential V(q) is negligible and the particle propagates freely. This implies that the appropriate boundary conditions for $t_f \to \infty$ are $q|_{t_i}^{t_f} = \infty$, i.e. eventually the particle escapes to infinity. Setting the initial time $t_i = 0$, a variation of the action leads to

$$\delta I[q] = \dot{q} \delta q|^{t_f = \infty} - \dot{q} \delta q|^{t_i = 0} + \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t \left(\frac{2}{q^3} - \ddot{q}\right) \delta q.$$
(5.12)

Now, two shortcomings of the above action become clear. Firstly, the on-shell action is not finite. This follows from the fact that the particle is essentially free in the limit $t_f \to \infty$, i.e. $\dot{q} = v$ and therefore

$$I[q] \sim \frac{v^2}{2} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t \to \infty.$$
 (5.13)

Additionally, the first variation of the on-shell action does not vanish for all variations that preserve the boundary conditions. A natural boundary condition at t_i would be $q(t_i = 0) = q_i$. A variation that preserves this boundary condition is obviously $\delta q|_{t_i} = 0$, thus the second term in (5.12) vanishes. Now, what variations preserve the natural boundary condition $q|_{t_i}^{t_f} = \infty$ at $t_f \to \infty$? Obviously, any finite variation $\delta q|_{t_i}^{t_i} = finite$ is allowed. Therefore, the first term in (5.12) does not vanish and we have

$$\delta I[q]\Big|_{e.o.m} \neq 0. \tag{5.14}$$

Different methods to tackle these problems have been proposed and we will address these in the following but for this example we choose the method of Hamilton–Jacobi counterterms, which will be the procedure chosen for the main part of this work.

The action (5.11) is supplemented with a boundary term S that depends on quantities intrinsic to the boundary only

$$\Gamma[q] = I[q] - S(q,t) \Big|_{0}^{t_{f}}.$$
(5.15)

A variation of this new action evaluated on shell leads to

$$\delta\Gamma\big|_{e.o.m.} = \left(\dot{q} - \frac{\partial S}{\partial q}\right) \delta q\big|_0^{t_f} = \left(p - \frac{\partial S}{\partial q}\right) \delta q\big|_0^{t_f}.$$
(5.16)

The boundary term vanishes if the function S satisfies

$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial q} = p \tag{5.17}$$

asymptotically. If one identifies the function S with Hamilton's principal function this is automatically satisfied. The boundary counterterm S is then obtained as the solution of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation

$$H\left(q,\frac{\partial S}{\partial q}\right) + \frac{\partial S}{\partial t} = 0.$$
(5.18)

The full solution of this nonlinear PDE (cf. [63]) yields the asymptotic expansion $S = \frac{q^2}{2t} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{t}{q^2}\right)$. This counterterm solves the two problems mentioned above. Asymptotically, $\dot{q} = v$ and therefore

$$I[q] \sim \frac{v^2}{2} \int_0^{tf} \mathrm{d}t - \frac{v^2}{2} t_f + \mathcal{O}(1) = \mathcal{O}(1), \qquad (5.19)$$

the on shell action is finite. The second problem is solved simultaneously since (5.16) is now

$$\delta\Gamma\big|_{e.o.m.} = \left(\dot{q} - \frac{\partial S}{\partial q}\right) \delta q\big|^{t_f} = \left(\dot{q} - \frac{q}{t} + \mathcal{O}(1/t^2)\right)\big|^{t_f} = \mathcal{O}(1/t) \delta q\big|^{t_f} = 0, \quad (5.20)$$

because $\dot{q} - \frac{q}{t} = \mathcal{O}(1/t)$ and δq is finite.

5.2.2 The general framework

The above example shows that holographic counterterms should ideally solve two problems simultaneously: the divergence of the on-shell action and the vanishing of the first variation of the action. The former was acknowledged quite early and remedied with the technique of background subtraction accepting the deficits mentioned in 3.4. A systematic approach to remove the divergences from the on-shell action— and derived quantities such as the Brown-York stress tensor [22]— was developed in the light of the AdS/CFT correspondence [13, 14, 40, 50, 92]. An outline of this standard formalism is presented in appendix A.1. A number of different approaches to holographic renormalization have been proposed subsequently, including the Hamilton–Jacobi or dBVV approach [39, 101] and the related work [110]. More recent contributions to this field include [4, 76]— though these will not be treated here. A short presentation of the Hamilton–Jacobi method of holographic renormalization is given in appendix A.2.

The latter problem was first treated rigorously in the Hamiltonian formalism in the seminal work [115]. The starting point for their argumentation is the usual Hamiltonian of general relativity

$$H_0 = \int_{\Sigma} \mathrm{d}^3 x \{ N(x) \mathcal{H}(x) + N^i(x) \mathcal{H}_i(x) \}.$$
(5.21)

with some suitable slicing of spacetime $\Sigma \times \mathbb{R}$ Here N denotes the lapse function, N^i the shift function, \mathcal{H} the Hamiltonian constraint and \mathcal{H}_i the momentum constraint. They argued forcibly that this Hamiltonian should be supplemented by the surface integral

$$E[g_{ij}] = \int_{\partial \Sigma} \mathrm{d}^2 x (\nabla_i g_{ik} - \nabla_k g_{ii})$$
(5.22)

to the ends that not only the ADM energy is recovered— as was the point of view back then—, but also the correct equations of motion are obtained. If the Hamiltonian of a general field theory is varied

$$\delta(Hamiltonian) = \int_{\Sigma} d^3x \{ A^{ij} \delta g_{ij} + B_{ij} \delta \pi^{ij} \}, \qquad (5.23)$$

then Hamilton's equations read

$$\dot{g}_{ij} = \frac{\delta(Hamiltonian)}{\delta g_{ij}} = A^{ij} \tag{5.24}$$

$$\dot{\pi}_{ij} = -\frac{\delta(Hamiltonian)}{\delta\pi^{ij}} = -B_{ij} \tag{5.25}$$

But a straightforward variation of (5.21) yields not only the required functional derivatives of g_{ij} and π^{ij} , but also two boundary terms. For open asymptotically flat spaces only one boundary term remains. This term is given by $-E[g_{ij}]$. Thus, only the combination

$$H = H_0 + E[g_{ij}] (5.26)$$

yields well defined functional derivatives in asymptotically flat spacetimes.

On account of the constraint equations

$$\mathcal{H} \approx 0 \qquad \mathcal{H}_i \approx 0, \tag{5.27}$$

— where Dirac's symbol \approx denoting weakly vanishing is used— the Hamiltonian reduces to

$$H \approx E,$$
 (5.28)

the ADM energy.

The connection between counterterms that render the on-shell action finite and counterterms necessary for the vanishing of the first variation of the action was first established in [111]— to the best of my knowledge. Subsequently, suitable counterterms have been found for various boundary conditions and theories (cf. [38, 67, 68, 98–100, 137] and references therein) with emphasis on either one of the problems solved depending on the context.

In the next section the ideas presented in this section are applied to dilaton gravity in two dimension, where a boundary term is needed for a finite action and a well defined variational principle.

6 Dilaton Gravity

As mentioned in the introduction, lower dimensional theories of gravity provide testing grounds for theories of classical and quantum gravity. Although current research interest in lower dimensional gravity is more focused on 2+1 dimensional theories of gravity, consistent theories of gravity can be formulated in 1+1 dimensions as well. The content of this section is the theory of 2d dilaton gravity. This theory is defined conventionally in terms of the bulk action

$$I_{bulk} = -\frac{1}{16\pi G_2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(XR - U(X)(\nabla X)^2 - 2V(X) \right),$$
(6.1)

where G_2 denotes Newton's constant in two dimensions, R the Ricci scalar of the twodimensional manifold and X the dilaton field. The two functions U(X) and V(X), regarded as kinetic and potential functions, respectively, depend on the specific model.

As pointed out in the last section, boundary terms have to be added to (6.1) for a well-defined variational principle. This is the subject of section 6.2.1. In the following we will motivate the form of the action (6.1) by studying three different models that give rise to specific dilaton actions.

6.1 Three Different Ways to Dilaton Gravity

The straightforward generalization of General Relativity to 1+1 dimensions exhibits no local degrees of freedom. For Euclidean, compact manifolds without boundary, the Einstein– Hilbert action in 2 dimensions yields the Euler characteristic $\chi(\mathcal{M})$ of the spacetime \mathcal{M} by the Gauß–Bonnet theorem

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x R = 4\pi \chi(\mathcal{M}). \tag{6.2}$$

Therefore, additional structure is necessary for a theory of gravity in 1+1 dimensions. In the case of dilaton gravity, a scalar field— the *dilaton field*— is introduced as another dynamical field. Several independent ways of motivating dilaton gravity exist; some of these are outlined in the following.

6.1.1 Dilaton Gravity as the limit of $2 + \epsilon$ dimensional gravity

One way to circumvent the above limitations of gravity in 2 dimensions, is the analysis of gravity in $2 + \epsilon$ dimensions in the limit $\epsilon \to 0$

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} I_{2+\epsilon} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} -\frac{1}{\kappa_{2+\epsilon}} \int d^{2+\epsilon} x \sqrt{g} R, \tag{6.3}$$

where $\kappa_{2+\epsilon}$ is Newton's constant in $2 + \epsilon$ dimensions.

These theories were considered in [33, 52]. It was later shown by Weinberg that Einstein gravity in $2 + \epsilon$ dimensions is *asymptotically safe* [145]. The concept of asymptotic safety will play no significant role in the main part of this work, but since asymptotic safety in quantum gravity is of interest in its own right, a few explanations are in order.

The non-renormalizability of general relativity in a perturbative sense is a well established fact, e.g. in 4 dimensions non-renormalizable divergences appear already at one-loop level for gravity coupled to matter and at two-loop level for pure Einstein gravity [57, 129]. Thus, perturbation theory around the Gaussian (trivial) fixed point of the renormalization group of general relativity—i.e. vanishing Newton's constant—leads to UV divergencies that cannot be canceled by a finite number of counterterms, when the UV cutoff is removed. In contrast, gauge theories common to the standard model of particle physics are known to be perturbatively renormalizable. For example, the renormalization group flow of QCD yields a trivial fixed point, consequently the UV cutoff can be removed safely and the theory is renormalizable and asymptotically free, i.e. the coupling constant vanishes for high momenta. Therefore, QCD is called *asymptotically safe*. QED on the other hand is not asymptotically free as it contains a Landau pole. Nonetheless, since QED is not expected to be correct at arbitrary high energy, the Landau pole is not considered to pose relevant problem [145].

But a trivial fixed point of the renormalization group flow is not a necessary condition for asymptotic safety. Nontrivial fixed points of the renormalization group flow, i.e. at some finite finite value of the coupling constants $g_i = g_i^*$, are also possible. Since there is no reason for the g_i^* to be small, perturbation theory might not be applicable. Nonetheless, the theory is asymptotically safe in a nonperturbative sense. This is still a viable solution for a quantum theory of gravity.

The number of free parameters of an asymptotically safe theory depends on the dimensionality of the *unstable manifold* of the fixed point (called *UV critical surface* in [145], a term used distinctly in modern terminology). Qualitatively speaking, the unstable manifold consists of all points in coupling space that move away from the fixed point as one lowers the cutoff from infinity (cf. [35] for a concise treatment of the *Kadanoff- Wilson* approach to renormalization). It is obvious from the above considerations that a unstable manifold of small but finite dimensionality would be most desirable.

This is the case for Einstein gravity in $2 + \epsilon$ dimensions [145]. The theory yields a nontrivial fixed point with an unstable manifold of dimension 1. Unfortunately, the limit $\epsilon \rightarrow 2$ is not viable since ϵ is required to be small. Nevertheless, insights from various other gauge theory suggest that the nontrivial fixed point in $2 + \epsilon$ dimensions could be a remnant of a nontrivial fixed point in higher dimensions. Therefore, asymptotical safety of gravity in $2 + \epsilon$ dimensions opens up the possibility that a non-perturbative quantisation of gravity—independent of other approaches to quantum gravity— might be successful (cf. [107] for a review).

Taking into account one-loop effects and scaling Newton's constant as $\kappa_{2+\epsilon} \propto \epsilon$, the limiting action of (6.3) was obtained in [65]. The calculation is sketched in the following.

The first important observation is the changing number of degrees of freedom in the limit $\epsilon \to 0$ since the number of graviton modes in Einstein gravity in D dimensions is given by $\frac{D(D-3)}{2}$. A changing number of degrees of freedom would be an unpleasant feature. This shortcoming can be circumvented by restricting the action (6.3) to spherical symmetric geometries where the number of graviton modes is zero in every dimension. Owing to the fact that the number of Killing vectors implied by spherical symmetry—(D-2)(D-1)/2—

vanishes in two dimensions, the above restriction contains no loss of generality.

After inserting a spherical symmetric ansatz for the line element (see 6.1.3 for details),

$$ds^{2} = g_{\alpha\beta} \,\mathrm{d}x^{\alpha} \,\mathrm{d}x^{\beta} + \frac{1}{\lambda} X^{\frac{2}{D-2}} \,\mathrm{d}\Omega^{2}_{S_{D-2}} \tag{6.4}$$

an integration over the angular part leads to the action

$$I_{2dg}^{\epsilon} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(XR - \frac{1-\epsilon}{\epsilon X} (\nabla X)^2 - \lambda \epsilon (1-\epsilon) X^{1-2/\epsilon} \right), \tag{6.5}$$

where κ is a coupling constant given by

$$\kappa = \kappa_{2+\epsilon} \lambda^{\epsilon/2} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\epsilon}{2})}{2\pi^{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\epsilon}{2}}}$$
(6.6)

and λ is a parameter of dimension of inverse length squared. Though the limit $\epsilon \to 0$ is still not well defined, a dualized version of (6.5) is obtained by making use of the duality presented in [64]

$$\tilde{I}_{2dg}^{\epsilon} = -\frac{1}{\tilde{\kappa}} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(\tilde{X}R - 2a(1-\epsilon)\tilde{X}^{-\epsilon} \right).$$
(6.7)

These two action are equivalent in the sense that they yield the same solutions of the respective equations of motion. The limit $\epsilon \to 0$ of (6.7) can be taken straightforwardly in order to arrive at

$$\tilde{I}_{\rm C} := \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \tilde{I}_{\rm 2dg}^{\epsilon} = -\frac{1}{\tilde{\kappa}} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \big(\tilde{X}R - 2a \big).$$
(6.8)

Due to its involutive character [64], applying the duality once more we are led to the desired limiting action of (6.5)

$$I_{\rm L} = -\frac{1}{\hat{\kappa}} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(XR - (\nabla X)^2 - \lambda e^{-2X} \right). \tag{6.9}$$

This is the well-known Liouville action, which is a special case of (6.1) with U(X) taken to be constant and V(X) exponential. While originally studied by Joseph Liouville in association with the uniformization of Riemann surfaces, the Liouville action found a vast amount of applications in recent years due to its natural appearance in the context of non-critical bosonic string theory. A detailed treatment of Liouville theory is beyond the scope of this work and the interested reader is referred to the literature (cf. e.g. [104] and the references therein).

For our purpose, it is sufficient to notice that the action (6.9)— as a particular example of the dilaton action (6.1)— describes the limit of Einstein gravity to 2 dimensions.

6.1.2 Dilaton Gravity and String Theory

Strings propagating in background fields, i.e. curved target space, are described by the *non-linear sigma model*

$$S = \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int d^2\sigma \left(\sqrt{-h} g_{\mu\nu} h^{ij} \partial_i X^{\mu} \partial_j X^{\nu} + \epsilon^{ij} B_{\mu\nu} \partial_i X^{\mu} \partial_j X^{\nu} + \alpha' \sqrt{h} R^{(2)} \Phi \right).$$
(6.10)

Here, h_{ij} is the metric on the string world sheet, that is parametrized by the coordinates σ , $g_{\mu\nu}$ the metric on the D- dimensional target space, X^{μ} the string coordinate functions, $B_{\mu\nu}$ the Kalb–Ramond field related to the torsion of spacetime, $R^{(2)}$ the Ricci scalar on the world sheet, Φ the dilaton field and α' the string tension. The three fields, $g_{\mu\nu}$, $B_{\mu\nu}$, Φ , constitute the three massless states of the closed bosonic string. Loosely speaking, these massless bosonic states can condensate to non-vanishing background values, thus constituting a curved target space geometry, that the string can interact with (for a detailed exposition see e.g. [24, 113, 132])

The crucial feature of the action (6.10) is its lack of Weyl invariance. In order to restore this essential symmetry of string theory, the trace of the energy momentum tensor

$$2\pi T_m^m = \beta^{\Phi} \sqrt{h} R^{(2)} + \beta_{\mu\nu}^g \sqrt{h} h^{ij} \partial_i X^{\mu} \partial_j X^{\nu} + \beta_{\mu\nu}^B \epsilon^{ij} \partial_i X^{\mu} \partial_j X^{\nu}, \tag{6.11}$$

with $\beta^{\Phi}, \beta^{g}_{\mu\nu}, \beta^{B}_{\mu\nu}$ defined below, must vanish. Thus, Weyl invariance is recovered if the beta-functions associated with $g_{\mu\nu}, B_{\mu\nu}, \Phi$ — playing the role of coupling constants in (6.10)— vanish. The beta functions can be calculated perturbatively in α' to yield [24]

$$\frac{\beta^{\Phi}}{\alpha'} = \frac{D - 26}{48\pi^2 \alpha'} + \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left(4(\nabla\Phi)^2 - 4\nabla^2\Phi - R + \frac{1}{12}H^2 \right) + O(\alpha'), \tag{6.12}$$

$$\beta^g_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} H^{\lambda\sigma}_{\mu} H_{\nu\lambda\sigma} + 2\nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \Phi + O(\alpha'), \qquad (6.13)$$

$$\beta^B_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_\lambda H^\lambda_{\mu\nu} - 2(\nabla_\lambda \Phi) H^\lambda_{\mu\nu} + O(\alpha'), \qquad (6.14)$$

where $H_{\lambda\mu\nu} = 3\nabla_{[\lambda}B_{\mu\nu]}$. Since we are not interested in a theory of gravity with nonvanishing torsion we set $B_{\mu\nu} = 0$ in the following. It can be shown that the beta-functions β^{Φ} and $\beta^{g}_{\mu\nu}$ are equivalent to the equations of motion obtained from varying the target space action

$$L^{(dil)} = \int d^D x \sqrt{g} e^{-2\Phi} \left[R + 4(\nabla \Phi)^2 + \frac{D - 26}{3\alpha'} \right].$$
(6.15)

Therefore, this action is an effective low energy description of string theory. With the identification $X = e^{-2\Phi}$ and the spacetime dimension D = 2, the action (6.15) is equivalent to the generalized dilaton action (6.1) with appropriately chosen functions U(X) and V(X). Thus, dilaton gravity provides a low energy description of string theory.

6.1.3 Dilaton Gravity as Spherically Reduced Einstein Gravity

Dimensional reduction of general relativity provides a different, independent approach to dilaton gravity. Ignoring boundary terms for the moment — we will return to this issue in the next section— the Einstein–Hilbert action in d+1 dimensions with cosmological constant Λ is

$$I_{d+1} = -\frac{1}{16\pi G_{d+1}} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^{d+1} x \sqrt{g_{d+1}} \left(R_{d+1} - 2\Lambda \right).$$
(6.16)

Following the conventions of [68], solutions of interest in dilaton gravity can be separated into a two dimensional metric $(g_2)_{\mu\nu}$ and the metric of a d-1 sphere

$$ds^{2} = (g_{2})_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + (G_{d+1})^{\frac{2}{d-1}} \varphi(r)^{2} d\Omega_{d-1}^{2}, \qquad (6.17)$$

where G_{d+1} denotes Newton's constant in d+1 dimensions and $\varphi(r)$ is a dimensionless field proportional to the respective powers of r. Plugging the split metric (6.17) into the Einstein–Hilbert action (6.16), a lengthy but straightforward calculation (found in e.g. [61] in Appendix C) yields the generalized dilaton action (6.1) with

$$U(X) = -\left(\frac{d-2}{d-1}\right)\frac{1}{X} \qquad V(X) = -\frac{1}{2}(d-1)(d-2)\Upsilon^{\frac{2}{d-1}}X^{\frac{d-3}{d-1}} + \Lambda X, \tag{6.18}$$

where the dilaton field X is defined as

$$X(r) = \Upsilon G_{d+1} \varphi(r)^{d-1} \qquad \Upsilon := \frac{\mathcal{A}_{d-1}}{8\pi G_{d+1}}.$$
 (6.19)

Here, \mathcal{A}_{d-1} denotes the volume of the d-1 sphere.

Consequently, all spherically symmetric higher dimensional spacetimes can be treated in the framework of 2d dilaton gravity. These include among others Schwarzschild and Reissner- Nordstrøm. Furthermore, using a suitable compactification, non-rotating BTZ black holes can be treated in 2d dilaton gravity [1]. A generalization to rotating BTZ black holes was presented in [68].

The above list of theories that give rise to actions of the form (6.1) is far from exhaustive. Other well known examples that can be described in the framework of the above dilaton action include the CGHS model [23], Jackiw–Teitelboim model [85, 130], Katanaev–Volovich model [90] (cf. [66, 68] for a collection of models and associated functions U(X) and V(X)).

6.2 Dilaton Thermodynamics

6.2.1 The correct action

As pointed out in section 3.4, quantities of interest in black hole thermodynamics are most easily computed in the semi-classical approximation to the euclidean path integral of gravity. It should be clear from the discussion in section 5 that the semi-classical approximation is well-defined only if the action exhibits the mentioned properties. In the following, it will be shown explicitly that the dilaton action needs a counterterm that can be obtained using the Hamilton–Jacobi formalism discussed in 5.2.1. This subsection follows closely the discussion carried out in [68] wherefrom all results are taken. The signature of spacetime is taken to be Euclidean, since we are focusing on thermodynamics. Furthermore, to reduce clutter, we will set $8\pi G_2 = 1$.

The action of 2d dilaton gravity supplemented with a GHY boundary term reads

$$I_{bulk+GHY} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(XR - U(X)(\nabla X)^2 - 2V(X) \right) - \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \sqrt{\gamma} XK.$$
(6.20)

The equations of motion of this action take the form

$$U(X)\nabla_{\mu}X\nabla_{\nu}X - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}U(X)(\nabla X)^{2} - g_{\mu\nu}V(X) - \nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}X - g_{\mu\nu}\nabla^{2}X = 0$$
(6.21)

$$R + \partial_X U(X)(\nabla X)^2 + 2U(X)\nabla^2 X - 2\partial_X V(X) = 0.$$
(6.22)

A gauge is chosen where the solutions take the form

$$X = X(r) \qquad ds^2 = \xi(r)d\tau^2 + \frac{1}{\xi(r)}dr^2$$
(6.23)

with

$$\partial_r X = e^{-Q(X)} \tag{6.24}$$

$$\xi(X) = w(X)e^{Q(X)} \left(1 - \frac{2M}{w(X)}\right),$$
(6.25)

with the functions Q(X) and w(X) defined as

$$Q(X) := Q_0 + \int_X^X d\tilde{X} U(\tilde{X})$$
(6.26)

$$w(X) := w_0 - 2 \int^X d\tilde{X} V(\tilde{X}) e^{Q(\tilde{X})}.$$
(6.27)

By an appropriate choice of w_0 the constant M can be restricted to nonnegative values, $M \ge 0$. If the norm of the Killing vector ∂_t , $\sqrt{\xi(X)}$, vanishes at $X = X_h$, the dilaton field exhibits a 'Killing horizon' at X_h . In most cases the Killing norm with M = 0 will be denoted as ξ_0 or as the 'ground state'.

In the models we will consider, the dilaton field X is positive in the interval

$$X_h \le X \le \infty, \tag{6.28}$$

where X_h denotes the Killing horizon at the largest value of X, if the Killing norm exhibits more than one root. In the limit $X \to \infty$ the function w(X) diverges, in general. Thus, the asymptotic behavior of the Killing norm is described by the ground state, as is easily seen from (6.25). In order to avoid conical defects at the horizon, the Euclidean time is assumed to be periodic $\tau \sim \tau + \beta$, which determines the inverse temperature

$$\beta = T^{-1} = \frac{4\pi}{\partial_r \xi} \bigg|_{r_h} = \frac{4\pi}{w'(X)} \bigg|_{X_h}.$$
(6.29)

The proper local temperature T(X) differs from β^{-1} by a redshift ('Tolman') factor

$$T(X) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\xi(X)}} \beta^{-1}.$$
 (6.30)

In order to study the thermodynamics of this model, the Euclidean path integral with appropriate boundary conditions is expanded around the classical solutions of the equations of motion. In the semi-classical limit the dominant contributions are the classical solutions and the path integral is given by

$$\mathcal{Z} \sim \exp\left(-I\left[g_{cl}, X_{cl}\right]\right) \int \mathcal{D}\delta g \mathcal{D}\delta X \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\delta^2 I\left[g_{cl}, X_{cl}; \delta g, \delta X\right]\right).$$
(6.31)

The above relation is correct provided the action satisfies condition 2 of the conditions enumerated in section 5. A short computation shows that this is not the case for the action (6.20).

A variation of the metric and the dilaton fields leads to the following boundary term

$$\delta I_{bulk+GHY}\Big|_{e.o.m} = \int \mathrm{d}\tau \left[-\frac{1}{2} \partial_r X \delta\xi + \left(U(X)\xi(X)\partial_r X - \frac{1}{2} \partial_r \xi \right) \delta X \right], \tag{6.32}$$

where we have placed the boundary at some regulating isosurface X_{req} . Eventually, we are interested in the limit $X_{reg} \to \infty$. It will be enough to concentrate on the term originating from the variation of ξ . The coefficient of this term is proportional to $e^{-Q(X)}$ as is clear from (6.24). The asymptotic behavior of this term depends on the specific model; it is not clear that this term vanishes for $r_c \to \infty$. It is now that the discussion of the simple mechanical model in section 5.2.1 pays off. There we examined the asymptotic solution in order to clarify which variations of the metric are compatible with the boundary conditions. Since the function w(X) diverges in general, the asymptotic solution will be $\xi_0 = w(X)e^{Q(X)}$. A metric with a small variation in the second term of (6.25) will yield the same asymptotic behavior. Therefore, small variations of δM are compatible with the boundary conditions and allowed variations of the metric. In other words, a variation of the metric $\delta \xi$ can be decomposed as $\delta\xi = e^{Q(X)}w(X)\delta\xi_0 - 2e^{Q(X)}\delta\xi_1$, with $\delta\xi_1 = \delta M$. The leading term defines the asymptotic behavior and is kept fixed, $\delta \xi_0 = 0$, while the subleading term can vary freely, $\delta \xi = -2\delta M e^{Q(X)}$. Compare this to the analog mechanical system: there we allowed for variations in the subleading terms as well since they were compatible with the boundary conditions.

The variation of the action is therefore

$$\delta I_{bulk+GHY}\Big|_{e.o.m,\delta X=0} = \int \mathrm{d}\tau \delta M \tag{6.33}$$

and nonzero.

The action (6.20) violates condition 3 as well. The on-shell action can be calculated to yield

$$I_{reg} = \beta \left(2M - w(X_{reg}) - 2\pi X_h T \right), \tag{6.34}$$

again evaluated at some regulated boundary X_{reg} . In the limit $X_{reg} \to \infty$ this diverges because of the second term. These shortcomings of the action cry for a remedy along the lines of holographic counterterms described in the previous section. In [68] the necessary counterterm was calculated using the method of Hamilton–Jacobi counterterms (see appendix A.2).

In contrast to the example discussed in appendix A.2, the Hamilton–Jacobi equation can be solved exactly in this case. The Hamiltonian constraint is calculated in a standard way to yield

$$\mathcal{H} = 2\pi_X \gamma_{ab} \pi^{ab} + 2U(X)(\gamma_{ab} \pi^{ab})^2 + V(X) = 0.$$
(6.35)

Here π^{ab} denotes the momentum w.r.t γ_{ab} and π_X the momentum associated with X. From the expansion of the counterterm action in appendix A.2, only the first term (A.20) is non-zero in the present case of a one-dimensional boundary.

$$L_{CT}(\gamma, X) = \sqrt{\gamma} W(X). \tag{6.36}$$

Thus, the functional differential equation reduces to an ordinary linear differential equation with the solution

$$W(X) = -\sqrt{e^{-Q(X)}w(X)}.$$
(6.37)

Alternatively, this boundary counterterm can be calculated from the requirement of local supersymmetry as pointed out in [69] (see the last paragraph of appendix A). Thus, we are led to the final form of the action

$$\Gamma = I_{bulk+GHY} - I_{CT} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(XR - U(X)(\nabla X)^2 - 2V(X) \right) - \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} dx \sqrt{\gamma} XK + \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} dx \sqrt{\gamma} \sqrt{e^{-Q(X)}w(X)}.$$
(6.38)

The on-shell action reads

$$\Gamma_{reg} = \beta \left(w(X_{reg}) \sqrt{1 - \frac{2M}{w(X_{reg})}} - w(X_{reg}) + 2M - 2\pi X_H T \right).$$
(6.39)

In the limit $X_{reg} \to \infty$ it is finite

$$\lim_{X_{reg}\to\infty}\Gamma_{reg}=\beta(M-2\pi X_H T).$$
(6.40)

6.2.2 Black Hole Thermodynamics

Despite the efforts to arrive at an action with a well-posed action principle that is finite on-shell, the semi-classical approach to the Euclidean path integral still is not well defined. The above action violates condition 4 of section 5 as well. This is intimately related to the stability of the thermodynamic system studied. This was discussed in section 3.4 for the case of the Schwarzschild black hole. Here we will deal in the same way with this issue, pioneered by York [148], by putting the thermodynamic system in a cavity. This corresponds to restricting the dilaton to values $X \leq X_c$, where $X = X(r_c)$ is the locus of the cavity².

The heat bath surrounding the cavity fixes inverse temperature β and dilaton charge D_c as boundary conditions for the path integral.

The nonnegative solutions of

$$\beta_c = \sqrt{\xi(X_c, M)} \beta(M), \tag{6.41}$$

denote the possible values of M and thus the classical solutions consistent with the boundary conditions. Helmholtz- free energy F may be obtained from the action via

$$F_c(T_c, X_c) = T_c \Gamma(T_c, X_c).$$
(6.42)

²More generally, instead of holding the "volume" of the cavity fixed, one can demand that a particular charge D(X) be fixed at the boundary. Since every sufficiently regular function can be used to construct a conserved charge, 2d dilaton gravity exhibits an infinite number of conserved charges. Here, we just chose D(X) = X and demand that X_c be fixed. Other charges can provide useful for different applications.

With the above definitions this leads to

$$F_c(T_c, X_c) = -2\pi X_h T_c + e^{-Q_c} \left(\sqrt{\xi_0} - \sqrt{\xi_c}\right),$$
(6.43)

where a subscript c denotes evaluation at constant dilaton charge X_c . Notice that, although X_{reg} and X_c are treated in a similar way mathematically, these quantities are qualitatively different. The charge X_c comes with a concrete physical interpretation as denoting the cavity into which the black hole is placed. The regulator X_{reg} on the other hand is just a mathematical tool that allows one to work with finite quantities, but the limit $X_{reg} \to \infty$ is always implied.

A differential change of the free energy, dF, can be written as

$$dF(T_c, X_c) = -2\pi X_h \, dT_c - \psi_c \, dX_c, \qquad (6.44)$$

where ψ_c denotes the dilaton chemical potential associated to the charge X_c :

$$\psi_c = -\frac{1}{2}U_c e^{-Q_c} \left(\sqrt{\xi_c} - \sqrt{\xi_0}\right) + \frac{1}{2}w'_c \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{\xi_0}}\right).$$
(6.45)

The entropy is given by

$$S = 2\pi X_h \tag{6.46}$$

This result is independent of the cut-off and the specific model under consideration. It is a local property of the horizon, just as one would expect for an entropy. Recalling expression (6.19) for spherical reduced dilaton gravity, we see that this is precisely

$$S = \frac{A_h}{4G_{d+1}},$$
(6.47)

the Bekenstein–Hawking area law.

Having seen that

$$\frac{\partial F_c(T_c, X_c)}{\partial T_c}\Big|_{X_c} = -S \tag{6.48}$$

we can Legendre transform the free energy w.r.t. to T_c to obtain the internal energy

$$E_c(S, X_c) = F_c(T_x, X_c) + T_c S,$$
 (6.49)

$$E_c = e^{-Q_c} \left(\sqrt{\xi_0} - \sqrt{\xi_c} \right). \tag{6.50}$$

The internal energy obeys the first law of black hole thermodynamics

$$\mathrm{d}E_c = T_c \,\mathrm{d}S - \psi_c \,\mathrm{d}D_c. \tag{6.51}$$

This agrees with the energy calculated from the Brown-York stress tensor

$$T^{ab} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \frac{\delta \Gamma}{\delta \gamma^{ab}},\tag{6.52}$$

contracted with the Killing vector $u_a = \delta_a^{\tau}$.

$$T^{ab}u_a u_b = E_c \tag{6.53}$$

The conserved charge associated with the timelike Killing vector, the "mass" M, is obtained from (6.52) as

$$M = \lim_{X_c \to \infty} \sqrt{\xi_c} T^{ab} u_a u_b, \tag{6.54}$$

where one should think of the limit $X_c \to \infty$ as integration at infinity and $\sqrt{\xi_c}$ as lapse function in the integral. From this we see that energy and mass are related by

$$\lim_{X_c \to \infty} E_c = \lim_{X_c \to \infty} \frac{M}{\sqrt{\xi_c}}.$$
(6.55)

6.2.3 Charged black holes

The above results are generalized easily to charged black holes by adding the Maxwell term

$$I_M = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} f(X) F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} \tag{6.56}$$

to the action (6.38). The function f(X) describes the coupling of the abelian field strength $F_{\mu\nu}$ to the dilaton field. Maxwell's equations are then solved by

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \frac{q}{4f(X)}\epsilon_{\mu\nu},\tag{6.57}$$

where q denotes the electric charge and the factor $\frac{1}{4}$ is chosen for convenience.

In principle, it is possible that adding the Maxwell term requires the introduction of an additional boundary counterterm. This will be the case in the next section when the cosmological constant is included. Another model where the calculation of this counterterm was carried out explicitly can be found in [31].

The equations of motion for the action (6.38) with an additional Maxwell field are still solved by equation (6.23) but the Killing norm is changed to

$$\xi(X) = e^{Q(X)} \left(w(X) - 2M + \frac{1}{4}q^2 h(X) \right).$$
(6.58)

The function h(X) is defined as

$$h(X) = \int^{X} d\tilde{X} \frac{e^{Q(\tilde{X})}}{f(\tilde{X})}.$$
(6.59)

In a gauge where $A_r = 0$ the gauge potential is given by

$$A_{\tau}(X) = -\frac{q}{4} \left(h(X) - h(X_h) \right) + A_{\tau}(X_h).$$
(6.60)

Thus, the proper electrostatic potential relative to the horizon is

$$\Phi(X) = \frac{A_{\tau}(X) - A_{\tau}(X_h)}{\sqrt{\xi(X)}}.$$
(6.61)

With these definitions the logarithm of the partition function may be calculated. The result is not the Helmholtz free energy $F_c(T_c, D_c, q)$ but rather the Legendre transformation of F_c with respect to the potential Φ_c . The inverse Legendre transformation leads to the same expression for F_c as before

$$F_c(T_c, D_c, q) = -2\pi X_h T_c + e^{-Q_c} \left(\sqrt{\xi_0} - \sqrt{\xi_c}\right)$$
(6.62)

and consequently to the same internal energy (6.50). The dependence on q remains in the Killing norm $\sqrt{\xi(X)}$ and the locus of the horizon X_h . Notice that one may add an arbitrary number of Maxwell fields this way.

7 The Cosmological Constant as a Thermodynamic Variable in 2d Dilaton Gravity

7.1 Implementing the Cosmological Constant

As a first step we have to examine in what way a cosmological constant is implemented in 2d dilaton gravity. The addition of a constant term to the Lagrangian will not be enough. On-shell the Ricci scalar should equal the cosmological constant Λ for pure dS or AdS, therefore the cosmological constant couples linearly to the dilaton field. Thus, the bulk action reads

$$I_{bulk} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(XR - U(X)(\nabla X)^2 - 2V(X) - 2\Lambda X \right).$$
(7.1)

If we are interested in a state-dependent cosmological constant it should be incorporated in the action in a way similar to the Henneaux–Teitelboim model discussed in section 4.2. In 2d dilaton gravity this is accomplished by adding a Maxwell field with a specific coupling. If we choose $f(X) = \frac{1}{X}$ for the coupling function the Maxwell term is

$$I_M = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} X \frac{q^2}{8}.$$
(7.2)

The dilaton field couples linearly to both, the Ricci scalar and the cosmological constant, if we set

$$\frac{q^2}{8} = -\Lambda. \tag{7.3}$$

We are interested in asymptotic AdS spacetimes, only. Therefore, the minus sign was made explicit in (7.3). The cosmological constant emerges as a thermodynamic variable naturally this way, since we may regard it as the charge of a Maxwell field with the peculiar coupling f(X) = 1/X. As mentioned above, the addition of a Maxwell field could require the introduction of an additional boundary term. This depends on the asymptotic behavior of the field. If the Maxwell field vanishes faster than w(X) the boundary counterterm already included is enough. In our case the Maxwell field assumes the role of the cosmological constant and governs the asymptotic behavior of the solution. Therefore, another boundary term will be necessary. This boundary term will be presented in the next section, for the moment we work with the action (6.38), keeping in mind that it is not the correct one. Nonetheless, this action yields the results expected from the discussion in section (4.2). The reason for this is seen in the following section.

The internal energy is given by

$$E_c(S, D_c, q) = e^{-Q_c} \left(\sqrt{\xi_0} - \sqrt{\xi_c}\right).$$
(7.4)

Here and in the following the term ξ_0 denotes the ground state Killing norm, i.e. the Killing norm (6.58) with M = 0. Observe that the internal energy depends on q now³. We can

³The labelling of the various potentials is ambiguous in the following. If one thinks of q as a normal Maxwell charge $E_c(S, D_c, q)$ is indeed the internal energy. On the other hand, if we think of q as representing the cosmological constant, and thus pressure P, $E_c(S, D_c, q)$ is called enthalpy. In the following, we stick to the former label as long as we are working in the dilaton context, and use the latter naming, if we change to a higher dimensional interpretation.

regard this either as an ordinary charge with the coupling f(X) = 1/X or as including Λ as a state variable. It is this way that the cosmological constant enters as a state variable naturally.

By making use of the relations

$$d\xi_c = U_c \xi_c \, dD_c + e^{Q_c} \left(w'_c \, dD_c - 2 \, dM + \frac{q}{2} h_c \, dD_c + \frac{q^2}{4} h'_c \, dD_c \right)$$
(7.5)

$$\mathrm{d}M = 2\pi T \,\mathrm{d}X_h + \frac{q}{4} h_h \,\mathrm{d}X_h,\tag{7.6}$$

where prime denotes differentiation with respect to X and the subscript h evaluation at X_h , we arrive at the expression

$$dE_c = -\psi_c \, dD_c - \left(\frac{h_c}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - \frac{h_c}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} + \frac{h_h}{\sqrt{\xi_c}}\right) d\Lambda + \frac{T}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} \, dS,\tag{7.7}$$

with $T = \beta^{-1}$ and ψ_c , the dilaton chemical potential, given by

$$\psi_c = -\frac{1}{2}U_c e^{-Q_c} \left(\sqrt{\xi_c} - \sqrt{\xi_0}\right) + \left(\frac{1}{2}w'_c - \Lambda h'_c\right) \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{\xi_0}}\right).$$
(7.8)

This is the first law of black hole thermodynamics in dilaton gravity with the cosmological constant treated as thermodynamic variable. For vanishing cosmological constant, (7.7) reduces to the first law derived in [68]. We stress again that— in the framework of dilaton gravity— treating the cosmological constant as a thermodynamical variable requires no further assumptions, since it is just a charge with a specific coupling to the dilaton field. The first law for gravity with a generic Maxwell field essentially looks the same. The only difference lies in the definition of the coupling function and the resulting function h(X). For the chosen coupling the function h(X) is

$$h(X) = \int^{X} d\tilde{X} \tilde{X} e^{Q(\tilde{X})}.$$
(7.9)

Notice that this is precisely the definition for the volume of a 2d black hole presented in [62]— up to a constant. Thus, the thermodynamic variable conjugate to the cosmological constant, usually denoted by Θ , is proportional to the difference between the volume of the cavity $h(X_c)$ and the volume of the black hole $h(X_h)$ rescaled by a Tolman factor

$$\Theta = -\left(\frac{h_c}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - \frac{h_c}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} + \frac{h_h}{\sqrt{\xi_c}}\right).$$
(7.10)

In the asymptotic limit, i.e. with the cavity walls removed, the first two terms cancel and (7.10) yields

$$\lim_{v_c \to \infty} \Theta = -\frac{h_h}{\sqrt{\xi_c}},\tag{7.11}$$

thus, only the volume of the black hole remains.

This is essentially the same result as in section 4.2.1. The thermodynamic variable conjugate to the cosmological constant is proportional to the volume of the black hole.

The difference between (7.10) and the corresponding quantities derived in the references of section 4.2.1, is the appearance of Tolman factors. The reason for this is that we used the local quantity E_c rather than the conserved charge M to derive this result. The two quantities are related by (6.55), which explains the Tolman factor. We may even generalize equation (7.7) for systems with an additional (electric) charge, like Reissner Nordström or BTZ black holes. This introduces just an additional term in the Killing norm

$$\xi(X) = e^{Q(X)} \left(w(X) - 2M + \frac{q_{\Lambda}^2}{4} h_{\Lambda}(X) + \frac{q^2}{4} h_q(X) \right).$$
(7.12)

Here, the subscripts Λ and q denote whether the function h(X) is associated to the coupling function f(X) of the cosmological constant, (7.9), or the coupling function of the charge, which is left unspecified provided that the asymptotic behavior is still governed by the cosmological constant. As before, we want the ground state to be asymptotic AdS, therefore we choose $\xi_0(X)$ to be the state with M = q = 0. The first law is thus generalized to

$$dE_c = -\psi_c \, dD_c - \left(\frac{h_{\Lambda,c}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - \frac{h_{\Lambda,c}}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} + \frac{h_{\Lambda,h}}{\sqrt{\xi_c}}\right) d\Lambda + \frac{q}{4} \left(-\frac{h_{q,c}}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} + \frac{h_{q,h}}{\sqrt{\xi_c}}\right) dq + \frac{T}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} \, dS \quad (7.13)$$

As before, the subscripts h and c denote evaluation at horizon and cavity wall, respectively. The dilaton chemical potential changes to

$$\psi_c = -\frac{1}{2}U_c e^{-Q_c} \left(\sqrt{\xi_c} - \sqrt{\xi_0}\right) + \left(\frac{1}{2}w'_{\Lambda,c} - \Lambda h'_{\Lambda,c}\right) \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{\xi_0}}\right) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{\xi_c}}\frac{q^2}{8}h'_{q,c} \quad (7.14)$$

For vanishing additional charge q both expressions reduce to (7.7) and (7.8).

7.1.1 Example 1:AdS-Schwarzschild in 3+1 dimensions

The application of the above procedure to AdS-Schwarzschild is now straightforward. With the functions defined in section 6.1.3 we arrive at

$$dE_c = -\psi_c \, dD_c - \frac{1}{3} (2G_4)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{X_c^{\frac{3}{2}}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - \frac{X_c^{\frac{3}{2}}}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} + \frac{X_h^{\frac{3}{2}}}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} \right) d\Lambda + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} T dS.$$
(7.15)

The dilaton field is related to the radial coordinate r of 3+1 dimensional AdS- Schwarzschild via

$$X(r) = \frac{1}{2G_4}r^2.$$
(7.16)

Thus, the known relations for temperature and surface pressure follow (see [87]).

With Λ replaced with P the above reads

$$dE_c = -\psi_c dD_c + \frac{4\pi}{3} \left(\frac{r_c^3}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - \frac{r_c^3}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} + \frac{r_h^3}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} \right) dP + T_c dS.$$
(7.17)

If the cavity is removed only the last term in the parenthesis remains, which corresponds to the volume of a ball in three dimensional Euclidean space. Using relation (6.55), cavity and Tolman factors are removed and we obtain

$$dM(P,S) = VdP + TdS \tag{7.18}$$

Thus, we reproduce the result that mass is the enthalpy of a black hole in AdS spacetime. This result was already discussed in section 4.2.1.

7.1.2 Example 2: BTZ- Black holes

BTZ black holes are solutions of Einstein gravity in 3 dimensions with a negative cosmological constant [5, 6]. A nonzero angular momentum of BTZ can be dealt with by introducing an additional charge $q = \frac{J}{2}$ with a specific coupling. In the following we make use of the BTZ reduction presented in [68] with some minor changes since we want to obtain the first law of BTZ black holes using the general result (7.13). The following functions are used to model BTZ in dilaton gravity:

$$Q(X) = 0$$
 $w(X) = 0$ $h_{\Lambda}(X) = \frac{1}{2}X^2$ $h_J(X) = \frac{4}{X^2}$. (7.19)

In order to obtain the same conventions usually found in other works, the normalization of Newton's constant was changed from $G_3 = \frac{1}{4}$ —as the conventions used so far would require— to $G_3 = \frac{1}{8}$. If one takes into account an additional factor 2 for the internal energy on behalf of the different normalization, inserting the functions (7.19) yields the first law for BTZ black holes with the cosmological constant as thermodynamic variable:

$$dE_c = -\psi_c dD_c - \Omega_c dJ + T_c dS - 2\left(\frac{h_{\Lambda,c}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - \frac{h_{\Lambda,c}}{\sqrt{\xi_c}} + \frac{h_{\Lambda,h}}{\sqrt{\xi_c}}\right) d\Lambda,$$
(7.20)

with

$$T = \frac{r_{+}^2 - r_{-}^2}{2\pi r_{+}\ell^2} \tag{7.21}$$

$$\Omega_c = \frac{J}{2\sqrt{\xi_c}} \left(\frac{1}{r_+^2} - \frac{1}{X_c^2} \right)$$
(7.22)

$$\psi_c = \frac{E_c}{\sqrt{\xi_c}\ell} - \frac{J^2}{2X_c^3\sqrt{\xi_c}},$$
(7.23)

where we have introduced the AdS radius ℓ . The locus of the horizon X_h was taken to be at r_+ . Again, we express the cosmological constant in terms of the associated pressure given by

$$P = -\frac{\Lambda}{8\pi G_3}.\tag{7.24}$$

In our conventions this is $P = -\frac{\Lambda}{\pi}$. Thus, the first law reads

$$dE_{c} = -\psi_{c}dD_{c} - \Omega_{c}dJ + T_{c}dS + \left(\frac{r_{c}^{2}\pi}{\sqrt{\xi_{0}}} - \frac{r_{c}^{2}\pi}{\sqrt{\xi_{c}}} + \frac{r_{+}^{2}\pi}{\sqrt{\xi_{c}}}\right)dP.$$
 (7.25)

Asymptotically, the first two terms in the parentheses cancel and the thermodynamic variable conjugate to the pressure is just the area of a circle with a Tolman factor. This is the 2 dimensional analogue of the volume of a spherically symmetric black hole. If we get rid of the Tolman factors by using relation (6.55) we recover the result found in [45].

7.2 The correct action principle

Under close inspection, the above discussion turns out to be flawed. The internal energy (7.4), that was used to derive the above results, stems from the action (6.38). This action

principle was derived on the assumption that the asymptotic behavior of (6.58) is governed by the function w(X) and the function h(X), associated with the Maxwell field, contributes only subleading terms. In our approach the Maxwell field plays the role of the cosmological constant and should therefore dominate asymptotically. This implies a curious variational principle. For definiteness, compare the variation of the boundary metric $\gamma_{\tau\tau} = \xi(X)$ for AdS-Schwarzschild in 3+1 dimensions

$$\delta\gamma_{\tau\tau} = -\frac{\Lambda}{3}r^2 + 1 - \frac{2}{r}\delta M. \tag{7.26}$$

with the variation of the boundary metric for AdS-Schwarzschild if Λ is introduced as a Maxwell charge

$$\delta\gamma_{\tau\tau} = \frac{q}{12}r^2\delta q + 1 - \frac{2}{r}\delta M. \tag{7.27}$$

The leading order term and the subsubleading term of the boundary metric are allowed to fluctuate while the subleading term is fixed. This requires a modification of the action.

An action that respects the above changes in the variational principle is given by

$$\Gamma = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(XR - U(X)(\nabla X)^2 - 2V(X) \right) + \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} f(X) F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} - \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} dx \sqrt{\gamma} XK + (-4 - b_2) \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} dx \sqrt{\gamma} n_\mu f A_\nu F^{\mu\nu} + b_2 \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} \nabla_\mu (f F^{\mu\nu} A_\nu) + \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} dx \sqrt{\gamma} e^{-Q(X)} \sqrt{e^{Q(X)} \left(w(X) + 2F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} f(X)^2 h(X) \right)},$$
(7.28)

where b_2 is an arbitrary constant. This one parameter family of actions yields a well defined variational principle and a finite on-shell action for variations where Λ can fluctuate freely. In the limit $F_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow 0$ it reduces to (6.38). The term in the third line is a new counterterm based on (6.37). This Born–Infeld like term

$$\int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \sqrt{\gamma} \mathrm{e}^{-Q(X)} \sqrt{\mathrm{e}^{Q(X)} \left(w(X) + 2F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} f(X)^2 h(X) \right)}$$
(7.29)

reduces on-shell to

$$\int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \sqrt{\gamma} \mathrm{e}^{-Q(X)} \sqrt{\xi_0},\tag{7.30}$$

where ξ_0 is the Killing norm with M=0. One might be tempted to use (7.30) as a counterterm instead of (7.29) but this is not possible as one would introduce the constant of motion q directly into the action, and a constant of motion can never be part of the definition of an action principle.

If (7.28) is varied the contributions from the second and third term in the second line cancel the δA_{μ} variation from the Maxwell term and leave only variations proportional to $\delta F_{\mu\nu}$. Therefore, these terms convert the variational problem of A_{μ} from Dirichlet boundary conditions to Neumann boundary conditions.

The addition of the total derivative term

$$b_2 \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} \nabla_{\mu} (f F^{\mu\nu} A_{\nu}) \tag{7.31}$$

seems odd, especially as b_2 could be set to 0 to make it vanish.⁴ Although the variational principle based on (7.28) is well defined and the on-shell action is finite, one does reproduce Bekenstein–Hawking entropy only if $b_2 = -4$. The explicit appearance of the gauge field A_{μ} seems to break gauge invariance of the action, but if the gauge transformations are required to obey the same boundary conditions as the field, in particular show the same periodicity β in the Euclidean time, the action is gauge invariant.

Consequently, the correct action that yields a well defined variational principle, a finite on-shell action and reproduces Bekenstein–Hawking is

$$\Gamma = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(XR - U(X)(\nabla X)^2 - 2V(X) \right) + \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} f(X) F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} - \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} dx \sqrt{\gamma} XK - 4 \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^2 x \sqrt{g} \nabla_{\mu} (fF^{\mu\nu} A_{\nu}) + \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} dx \sqrt{\gamma} e^{-Q(X)} \sqrt{e^{Q(X)} (w(X) + 2F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} f(X)^2 h(X))}.$$
(7.32)

This is our main result.

The on-shell action is given by

$$F_c(T_c, D_c, q) = -2\pi X_h T_c + e^{-Q_c} \left(\sqrt{\xi_0} - \sqrt{\xi_c}\right),$$
(7.33)

the usual free energy, and is finite.⁵ This is the reason that the naive approach of the last section gave the expected results.

In the following, we show explicitly that the above action yields a well-defined variational principle. Varying the above action with respect to F, g, X yields

$$\delta\Gamma = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{g} (\mathcal{E}_g^{\mu\nu} \delta g_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{E}^{\mu\nu} \delta F_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{E}_X \delta X) + \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d} x \sqrt{\gamma} (\pi_g^{\mu\nu} \delta g_{\mu\nu} + \pi_F^{\mu\nu} \delta F_{\mu\nu} + \pi_X \delta X)$$
(7.34)

The bulk variations yield the correct equations of motion while the momenta are given by

$$\pi_g^{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{1}{2}n^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}X\gamma^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{\alpha\beta}e^{-Q(X)}\sqrt{\xi_{BI}} - 4\left(\frac{1}{2}n_{\lambda}F^{\lambda\nu}A_{\nu}fg^{\alpha\beta} - n^{\alpha}F^{\beta\nu}A_{\nu}f - n_{\mu}F^{\mu\beta}fA^{\alpha}\right) - \frac{2F^{\alpha\sigma}F^{\beta}\sigma f^{2}h}{\sqrt{\xi_{BI}}}$$
(7.35)

$$\pi_F^{\mu\nu} = \left(\frac{2F^{\mu\nu}f^2h}{\sqrt{\xi_{BI}}} - 4n^{\mu}A^{\nu}f\right)$$
(7.36)

⁴The topology of the manifold \mathcal{M} is that of a disk with circumference β and radial coordinate going from the horizon r_h at the center to the cut-off r_c . One might argue that Stoke's theorem on this manifold applied to the bulk total derivative term yields the boundary term in the second line. But this is not the case, otherwise the addition of the bulk total derivative term would be pointless. The reason for this is that the normal vector n^{μ} vanishes at r_h . If one applies Stoke's theorem with a disk of radius ϵ around r_h removed, an additional contribution at r_h is obtained in the limit $\epsilon \to 0$. Since this term was added in order to arrive at the Bekenstein–Hawking entropy law, one can interpret the above in the way that point like charges sit at the horizon that are responsible for the correct entropy. These charges do not change the equations of motion in the bulk.

⁵We call this potential "free energy", if q is regarded as a charge. On the other hand, we saw in the last section that $e^{-Q_c} \left(\sqrt{\xi_0} - \sqrt{\xi_c}\right)$ is the AdS mass and consequently equivalent to enthalpy, if q^2 is interpreted as cosmological constant. In order to avoid ambiguities, we stick with the former interpretation.

$$\pi_X = \left(U(X) n^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} X - K - 4 n_{\mu} A_{\nu} F^{\mu\nu} f' + \frac{-U(w + 2F^2 f^2 h) + (w' + 4F^2 f' f h + 2F^2 f^2 h')}{2\sqrt{\xi_{BI}}} \right),$$
(7.37)

where we have denoted $\sqrt{\xi_{BI}} = \sqrt{e^{Q(X)} (w(X) + 2F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}f(X)^2h(X))}$ to reduce clutter. An immediate concern is the appearance of terms proportional to δg_{rr} in the second line of (7.35). However, it turns out that the terms in the second line cancel, since the normal vector n^{μ} has an r component only, and we are left with

$$\pi_g^{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{1}{2}n^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}X\gamma^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{\alpha\beta}\mathrm{e}^{-Q(X)}\sqrt{\xi_{BI}}.$$
(7.38)

In order to have a well defined variational principle, the boundary terms of (7.34) must vanish on-shell, if the regulator is removed. When evaluated on the solutions of the equations of motion, these terms read

$$\delta_g \Gamma = \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{e}^{-Q(X)} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\xi_0}}{\sqrt{\xi}} - 1 \right) \delta\xi \tag{7.39}$$

$$\delta_X \Gamma = \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \left(\frac{1}{2} U \xi e^{-Q} (1 - \frac{\sqrt{\xi_0}}{\sqrt{\xi}}) + \frac{1}{2} (w' + \frac{q^2}{4} h') (\frac{\sqrt{\xi}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - 1) + \frac{q^2}{4} \frac{f'}{f} h(\frac{\sqrt{\xi}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - 1) \right) \delta X$$
(7.40)

$$\delta_F \Gamma = \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \, qh(X) f(X) \left(1 - \frac{\sqrt{\xi}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} \right) \delta F_{r\tau} \tag{7.41}$$

All quantities are understood to be evaluated at a regulator X_{reg} with $X_{reg} \to \infty$ implied at the end of the calculations.

These terms have to vanish asymptotically but this is not the case if we consider independent variations of γ , F and X. This can be understood, if one remembers that a variation of $F_{\mu\nu}$ amounts to a variation of q, which governs the asymptotic behavior of $g_{\mu\nu}$ and cannot be neglected in the variation of g, accordingly. The variations have to satisfy the constraint

$$\delta\xi = \left(U\xi + e^{Q(X)}(w' + \frac{q^2}{4}h')\right)\delta X - 2e^{Q(X)}\delta M + \frac{q}{2}e^{Q(X)}h\delta q.$$
 (7.42)

Now we may use this constraint to rewrite the variation $\delta_q \Gamma$:

$$\delta_{g}\Gamma = \int_{\partial\mathcal{M}} dx \frac{1}{2} e^{-Q(X)} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\xi_{0}}}{\sqrt{\xi}} - 1 \right) \left(\left(U\xi + e^{Q(X)} (w' + \frac{q^{2}}{4}h') \right) \delta X - 2e^{Q(X)} \delta M + \frac{q}{2} e^{Q(X)} h \delta q \right) \\ = \int_{\partial\mathcal{M}} dx \frac{q}{4} h \left(\frac{\sqrt{\xi_{0}}}{\sqrt{\xi}} - 1 \right) \delta q + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\xi_{0}}}{\sqrt{\xi}} - 1 \right) \left(U e^{-Q(X)} \xi + (w' + \frac{q^{2}}{4}h') \right) \delta X - \left(\frac{\sqrt{\xi_{0}}}{\sqrt{\xi}} - 1 \right) \delta M$$
(7.43)

We see immediately that the last term vanishes: the variation δM is an infinitesimal constant and $\frac{\sqrt{\xi_0}}{\sqrt{\xi}}$ approaches 1 for $X_{reg} \to \infty$. The two remaining variations, $\delta_X \Gamma$ and

 $\delta_F \Gamma$ acquire contributions from $\delta_q \Gamma$. Including this new contribution, $\delta_F \Gamma$ reads

$$\delta_F \Gamma = \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \, qh(X) f(X) \left(1 - \frac{\sqrt{\xi}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} \right) \delta F_{r\tau} + \frac{q}{4} h \left(\frac{\sqrt{\xi_0}}{\sqrt{\xi}} - 1 \right) \delta q$$
$$= \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \frac{q}{4} h \left(\frac{\sqrt{\xi_0}}{\sqrt{\xi}} - 1 \right) \delta q - \frac{q}{4} h \left(1 - \frac{\sqrt{\xi}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} \right) \delta q$$
$$= \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \frac{q}{4} h \left(\frac{\sqrt{\xi_0}}{\sqrt{\xi}} + \frac{\sqrt{\xi}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - 2 \right) \delta q \tag{7.44}$$

where we have used $\delta F_{r\tau} = -\frac{\delta q}{4} \frac{1}{f}$. In order to show that this term vanishes asymptotically, we have to evaluate the parenthesis. The term $\sqrt{\frac{\xi}{\xi_0}}$ is expanded as

$$\sqrt{\frac{\xi}{\xi_0}} = \sqrt{1 - \frac{2M}{w(X) + \frac{q^2}{4}h(X)}} = 1 - \frac{M}{w(X) + \frac{q^2}{4}h(X)} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{h^2}), \tag{7.45}$$

since the asymptotic behavior is governed by h(X). Similarly we have

$$\sqrt{\frac{\xi_0}{\xi}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\frac{\xi}{\xi_0}}} = 1 + \frac{M}{w(X) + \frac{q^2}{4}h(X)} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{h^2})$$
(7.46)

Therefore, the first order terms of the expansions cancel and we are left with

$$\delta_F \Gamma = \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \frac{q}{4} h\left(\mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{h^2})\right) \delta q \xrightarrow[X_{reg} \to \infty]{} 0, \qquad (7.47)$$

as required for a well-defined variational principle.

The $\delta_X \Gamma$ variation remains. With the contributions from $\delta_g \Gamma$ we have

$$\delta_X \Gamma = \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \frac{1}{2} (w' + \frac{q^2}{4} h') \left(\frac{\sqrt{\xi_0}}{\sqrt{\xi}} + \frac{\sqrt{\xi}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - 2 \right) \delta X + \frac{q^2}{4} \frac{f'}{f} h(\frac{\sqrt{\xi}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - 1) \delta X \tag{7.48}$$

since the terms proportional to U cancel. The first term vanishes by the same argument as above, since h^2 grows certainly faster than $h'\delta X$. The parenthesis in the last term yields

$$\left(\frac{\sqrt{\xi}}{\sqrt{\xi_0}} - 1\right) = -\frac{M}{\frac{q^2}{4} + w} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{h^2})$$
(7.49)

Therefore we are left with

$$\delta_X \Gamma \to \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \left(-\frac{f'}{f} M \right) \delta X = \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x M \frac{\delta X}{X}.$$
 (7.50)

If we apply the usual Dirichlet boundary conditions on the dilaton field, i.e. $\delta X_0 = 0$, where X_0 is the coefficient of the leading order term of X, then $\frac{\delta X}{X} \to 0$ and therefore

$$\delta_X \Gamma \xrightarrow[X_{reg} \to \infty]{} 0. \tag{7.51}$$

In summary, we have shown that $\delta\Gamma = 0$ for all variations $\delta\gamma_{\mu\nu}, \delta F_{\mu\nu}, \delta X$ that satisfy the constraint (7.42).

With the variations with respect to $\delta \gamma_{ab}$ we arrive again at the same expression for the Brown–York stress tensor and consequently at the same internal energy

$$E_c(S, X_c, q) = e^{-Q(X_c)} \left(\sqrt{\xi_0} - \sqrt{\xi_c}\right)$$
(7.52)

A Legendre transformation of (7.33) leads to the same result.

The results from section 4.2.1 that concern those black holes attainable from 2d dilaton gravity can be reproduced using the above action (7.32). We have shown this explicitly for AdS-Schwarzschild and BTZ in the last section. But our result appears to be more general to apply to other intrinsically 2d models as well. The study of these in the above framework is left for further work.

8 Conclusions

In this work we studied the consequences of a varying cosmological constant for black hole thermodynamics. A review of previous ideas and results was presented. The starting point for most considerations in this direction is the Henneaux–Teitelboim model where the cosmological constant is replaced by a totally antisymmetric d + 1- field strength. Brown and Teitelboim showed that this model exhibits the possibility of membrane creation that effectively reduces the cosmological constant in the interior of the membrane. Other competing mechanisms for an effective neutralization of the cosmological constant were presented in section 4.2.1.

Consequently, these processes should be taken into account in the first law of black hole thermodynamics. It was shown that the thermodynamically variable conjugate to the cosmological constant corresponds to the negative volume of the black hole.

The framework of 2d dilaton gravity was introduced, and the importance of a welldefined variational principle was clarified. In 2d dilaton gravity a varying cosmological constant can be implemented in a Henneaux-Teitelboim like manner. The (d + 1)- field corresponds here to a Maxwell field. The cosmological constant behaves therefore like a charge with an unusual coupling to gravity. An action principle based on the action (7.32) was presented. It was shown that the action yields a finite on-shell action and a well-defined variational principle provided that the variations satisfy the constraint (7.42).

The thermodynamically conjugate variable to Λ in 2d dilaton gravity turned out to coincide with the volume of a two dimensional black hole presented in [62]. AdS-Schwarzschild and BTZ black holes were studied as two particular examples of higher dimensional spacetimes attainable from 2d dilaton gravity and previous results were recovered.

A few points remain to be clarified. Is there a particular interpretation for the bulk total derivative term (7.31), other than the necessity to arrive at a finite on-shell action and Bekenstein–Hawking area law? Can the constraint (7.42) be replaced by a set of different boundary conditions? The action (7.32) gives the expected results for AdS-Schwarzschild and BTZ and appears to be quite general, but does it actually hold for all dilaton models, i.e. arbitrary function U(X), V(X), or have we unwittingly excluded some models? Does the above action work for other models where the asymptotic behavior is dominated by a Maxwell field? These questions need a thorough treatment that is left for further work.

A Holographic Renormalization

A.1 The Standard Approach

In this appendix a short introduction to holographic renormalization is presented.

The conformal metric of AdS_{d+1} is taken as

$$ds^{2} = G_{\mu\nu} \,\mathrm{d}x^{\mu} \,\mathrm{d}x^{\nu} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\rho^{2}}{4\rho^{2}} + \frac{1}{\rho} g_{ij}(x,\rho) \,\mathrm{d}x^{i} \,\mathrm{d}x^{j}. \tag{A.1}$$

The conformal boundary lies at $\rho = 0$. The metric at the boundary yields an expansion of the form

$$g(x,\rho) = g_{(0)} + \dots + \rho^{d/2} g_{(d)} + h_{(d)} \rho^{d/2} \log \rho,$$
(A.2)

where the last term is present for even d only. This is a suitable ansatz for Einstein gravity. Other theories of gravity may require the introduction of fractional powers of ρ or logarithmic terms. Ignoring potential indices, a generic field $\mathcal{F}(x, \rho)$ can be expanded asymptotically in the form

$$\mathcal{F}(x,\rho) = \rho^m(f_{(0)}(x) + f_{(2)}(x)\rho + \dots + \rho^n(f_{(2n)}(x) + \tilde{f}_{(2n)}(x)\log\rho + \dots)).$$
(A.3)

In the AdS/CFT correspondence the leading term $f_{(0)}(x)$ plays the role of a source for the boundary theory. The coefficients $f_{(2)}(x), f_{(4)}(x), ..., f_{(2n-2)}(x), \tilde{f}_{(2n)}(x)$ are uniquely determined by the equations of motion in terms of the boundary value $f_{(0)}(x)$, while the coefficient $f_{(2n)}(x)$ remains undetermined. The procedure continues to evaluate the on-shell action for some finite cut-off $\rho \geq \epsilon$. The divergences of the boundary term are ordered according to their respective degree of divergence. In general, only a finite number of terms diverge.

$$S_{reg}[f_{(0)};\epsilon] = \int_{\rho=\epsilon} \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{g_{(0)}}[\epsilon^{-\nu}a_{(0)} + \epsilon^{-(\nu+1)}a_{(2)} + \dots - \log\epsilon a_{(2\nu)} + \mathcal{O}(1)], \qquad (A.4)$$

where the functions $a_{(k)}$ are local function of $f_{(0)}$. Consequently, the counterterm action $S_{ct}[\mathcal{F}(x,\epsilon);\epsilon]$ is the divergent part of S_{reg} . Since the counterterm action ought to be a functional of quantities inherent to the boundary only, the series (A.3) is inverted. Then the relation $f_{(0)} = f_{(0)}(\mathcal{F}(x,\epsilon))$ is obtained and consequently $a_{(k)} = a_{(k)}(\mathcal{F}(x,\epsilon))$. The action (A.4) is then a functional of $\mathcal{F}(x,\epsilon)$ only. Thus, the renormalized action is

$$S_{ren}[f_{(0)}] = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} (S_{reg}[f_{(0)}] + S_{ct}[\mathcal{F}(x,\epsilon);\epsilon]).$$
(A.5)

As an important example we will apply the above procedure to AdS_3 [40]. The first step is the computation of the asymptotic expansion of g_{ij} . As mentioned above, the coefficients are uniquely determined by the bulk equations of motion. For a split of the metric $G_{\mu\nu}$ of the form (A.1), Einstein's equations read

$$\rho \left[2g'' - 2g'g^{-1}g' + \operatorname{Tr}(g^{-1}g')g' \right] + \operatorname{Ric}(g) - (d-2)g' - \operatorname{Tr}(g^{-1}g')g = 0$$
(A.6)

$$\nabla_i \operatorname{Tr}(g^{-1}g') - \nabla^j g'_{ij} = 0 \tag{A.7}$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}(g^{-1}g'') - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Tr}(g^{-1}g'g^{-1}g') = 0.$$
(A.8)

This system of equations can be solved order by order by differentiating the equation w.r.t ρ and setting $\rho = 0$ afterwards. In the case d = 2 the coefficient

$$g_{(2)ij} = \frac{1}{2} (Rg_{(0)ij} + t_{ij}) \qquad h_{(2)ij} = 0$$
(A.9)

is obtained, where t_{ij} is some symmetric tensor that satisfies $\nabla^i t_{ij} = 0$, $\operatorname{Tr} t_{ij} = -R$. Following the procedure outlined above, the EH action with a GHY boundary term restricted to $\rho \geq \epsilon$ is evaluated for the solution (A.3) which leads to [40]

$$S_{reg} = \frac{1}{16\pi G_{d+1}} \int d^d x \left[\int_{\epsilon} d\rho \frac{d}{\rho^d d/2 + 1} \sqrt{\det g(x,\rho)} + \frac{1}{\rho^{d/2}} (-2d\sqrt{\det g(x,\rho)} + 4\rho \partial_{\rho} \sqrt{\det g(x,\rho)}) \Big|_{\rho=\epsilon} \right]$$
(A.10)

$$= \frac{l}{16\pi G_3} \int d^2x \sqrt{\det g_{(0)}} \left(\epsilon^{-1} a_{(0)} - a_{(2)} \log \epsilon \right) + \mathcal{O}(1), \tag{A.11}$$

where we have used the AdS radius l and the coefficients $a_{(0)}, a_{(2)}$ read

$$a_{(0)} = 2(1-d) = -1$$
 $a_{(2)} = \text{Tr}g_{(2)}.$ (A.12)

Expressed in terms of quantities intrinsic to the boundary, i.e. the induced metric $\gamma = \frac{g_{(0)}}{\rho}$, the latter coefficient reads $a_{(2)} = \frac{1}{2}R[\gamma]$. Thus we arrive at the renormalized action S_{ren}

$$S_{ren} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(S_{reg} - \frac{1}{16\pi G_3} \int_{\rho=\epsilon} \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{\gamma} (-1 - \frac{1}{2}R[\gamma]\log\epsilon) \right)$$
(A.13)

This renormalized action can be used to obtain the renormalized Brown–York stress tensor via the usual relation. This reduces to

$$\langle T_{ij} \rangle = \frac{2l}{16\pi G_3} (g_{(2)ij} - g_{(0)ij} \operatorname{Tr} g_{(2)})$$
 (A.14)

in 3 dimensions [40]. Inserting the above coefficients and taking the trace, we arrive at

$$\langle T \rangle = -\frac{c}{24\pi}R \qquad c = \frac{3l}{2G_3},\tag{A.15}$$

the Brown-Henneaux result for the conformal anomaly of the dual boundary theory [19].

A.2 Holographic Renormalization: Hamilton–Jacobi approach

The starting point of the Hamilton–Jacobi approach is the Hamiltonian formulation of gravity. The "time" vector field t^a , along which the fields evolve, is replaced by the normal vector of the boundary with induced metric γ_{ab} . Thus, the Hamiltonian describes a radial evolution rather than a time evolution. In the following, additional dynamical fields of the theory are denoted by ϕ . The dynamics are governed by the constraint equations

$$\mathcal{H}(\gamma, \pi_{\gamma}, \phi, \pi_{\phi}) \approx 0 \qquad \mathcal{H}_i(\gamma, \pi_{\gamma}, \phi, \pi_{\phi}) \approx 0$$
 (A.16)

with \mathcal{H} denoting the Hamiltonian constraint and \mathcal{H}_i the momentum constraint. The momentum associated with the respective field is obtained from the on-shell action I as a functional derivative

$$\pi_{\phi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \frac{\delta I}{\delta \phi} \qquad \pi^{ab} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \frac{\delta I}{\delta \gamma_{ab}}.$$
 (A.17)

The Hamilton–Jacobi equation is now the Hamilton constraint \mathcal{H} with the momenta replaced by the respective functional derivatives

$$\mathcal{H}\left[\gamma_{ab}, \frac{\delta I}{\delta \gamma_{ab}}, \phi, \frac{\delta I}{\delta \phi}\right] = 0 \tag{A.18}$$

In general, the search for an exact solution of this nonlinear functional differential equation is beyond hope. Therefore, the procedure continues by splitting up the action as

$$I = \Gamma + I_{ct},\tag{A.19}$$

where Γ contains the finite part and I_{ct} the power law divergences. The theory under consideration dictates now an ansatz for the counterterm action I_{ct} , that depends on the field content and the dimension d. Usually, this counterterm can be written as an expansion in the inverse metric. For the case of gravity coupled to a single scalar field ϕ the first terms of the expansion read

$$I_{ct[0]} = \int \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{\gamma} W(\phi) \tag{A.20}$$

$$I_{ct[2]} = \int \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{\gamma} \left[\frac{1}{2} C(\phi) g^{ij} \partial_i \phi \partial_j \phi + D(\phi) R \right], \tag{A.21}$$

$$I_{ct[4]} = \int \mathrm{d}^d x \sqrt{\gamma} \left[E(\phi) R^2 + F(\phi) R^{ab} R_{ab} + \dots \right]$$
(A.22)

where R denotes the Ricci scalar of the boundary and $W(\phi), D(\phi), D(\phi), E(\phi), F(\phi)$ denote arbitrary functions of the scalar field. Notice that the term $I_{ct[2k]}$ contains exactly k inverse metrics or 2k derivatives of the metric. The number of divergent terms can be estimated by power counting using the asymptotic expansion of the metric (A.2). The momentum (A.17) is split up according to (A.19)

$$\pi = \pi_{\Gamma} + P. \tag{A.23}$$

Using the above relations, the Hamiltonian constraint is split up in a similar form

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_{[0]} + \mathcal{H}_{[2]} + \mathcal{H}_{[4]} + \dots + \mathcal{H}_{\Gamma} = 0 \tag{A.24}$$

A certain number of the expressions $\mathcal{H}_{[2k]}$, that can be determined by power counting, dominate over the term \mathcal{H}_{Γ} asymptotically. This leads to a system of descent equations for the undetermined functions in the counterterm ansatz, that needs to be solved— at least asymptotically. In general, the system breaks down if 2k = d, leaving behind some remainder \mathcal{H}_{rem} , that is associated with a logarithmic divergence in the action and a
conformal anomaly in the boundary field theory [101]. The renormalized action S_{ren} is then obtained by

$$S_{ren} = \lim_{\rho \to 0} \left(I - I_{ct} + \rho \int d^d x \sqrt{g} \mathcal{H}_{rem} \right), \tag{A.25}$$

where we subtracted the logarithmic divergence associated with \mathcal{H}_{ren} . What remains to be shown is that all divergences of I can be canceled in the way presented (cf. [101]).

In [69], another remarkable approach was presented that was shown to work in lower dimensional gravity and, in particular in dilaton gravity in 2 dimensions. The authors showed that the requirement of local supersymmetry introduced the necessary boundary counterterms that otherwise have to be calculated using the more tedious techniques of holographic renormalization. In contrast to other approaches, no boundary conditions need to be specified. The deeper reason for the success of this procedure is not clear. Furthermore, it is unclear whether this procedure works in higher dimensions.

References

- A. Achucarro and M. E. Ortiz. Relating black holes in two-dimensions and three-dimensions. *Phys. Rev.*, D48:3600–3605, 1993.
- [2] O. Aharony, S. S. Gubser, J. M. Maldacena, H. Ooguri, and Y. Oz. Large N field theories, string theory and gravity. *Phys.Rept.*, 323:183–386, 2000.
- [3] A. Ashtekar and B. Krishnan. Isolated and dynamical horizons and their applications. *Living Rev. Rel.*, 7:10, 2004.
- [4] V. Balasubramanian, M. Guica, and A. Lawrence. Holographic Interpretations of the Renormalization Group. JHEP, 1301:115, 2013.
- [5] M. Banados, M. Henneaux, C. Teitelboim, and J. Zanelli. Geometry of the (2+1) black hole. *Phys. Rev.*, D48:1506–1525, 1993.
- [6] M. Banados, C. Teitelboim, and J. Zanelli. The Black hole in three-dimensional space-time. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 69:1849–1851, 1992.
- [7] J. M. Bardeen, B. Carter, and S. Hawking. The Four laws of black hole mechanics. *Commun.Math.Phys.*, 31:161–170, 1973.
- [8] S. Bazanski and P. Zyla. A Gauss type law for gravity with a cosmological constant. Gen. Rel. Grav., 22:379–387, 1990.
- J. D. Bekenstein. Black holes and the second law. Lettere Al Nuovo Cimento (1971–1985), 4(15):737–740, 1972.
- [10] J. D. Bekenstein. Black holes and entropy. *Physical Review D*, 7(8):2333, 1973.
- [11] J. D. Bekenstein. Bekenstein-hawking entropy. Scholarpedia, 3(10):7375, 2008.
- [12] J. Beringer et al. Review of Particle Physics (RPP). *Phys. Rev.*, D86:010001, 2012.
- [13] M. Bianchi, D. Z. Freedman, and K. Skenderis. How to go with an RG flow. JHEP, 0108:041, 2001.
- [14] M. Bianchi, D. Z. Freedman, and K. Skenderis. Holographic renormalization. Nucl. Phys., B631:159–194, 2002.
- [15] D. Birmingham. Topological black holes in Anti-de Sitter space. Class. Quant. Grav., 16:1197–1205, 1999.
- [16] R. Bousso. A Covariant entropy conjecture. JHEP, 9907:004, 1999.
- [17] R. Bousso. The Holographic principle. Rev. Mod. Phys., 74:825–874, 2002.
- [18] R. Bousso and J. Polchinski. Quantization of four form fluxes and dynamical neutralization of the cosmological constant. *JHEP*, 0006:006, 2000.
- [19] J. D. Brown and M. Henneaux. Central Charges in the Canonical Realization of Asymptotic Symmetries: An Example from Three-Dimensional Gravity. *Commun.Math.Phys.*, 104:207–226, 1986.
- [20] J. D. Brown and C. Teitelboim. Dynamical Neutralization of the Cosmological Constant. *Phys.Lett.*, B195:177–182, 1987.
- [21] J. D. Brown and C. Teitelboim. Neutralization of the Cosmological Constant by Membrane Creation. Nucl. Phys., B297:787–836, 1988.

- [22] J. D. Brown and J. York, James W. Quasilocal energy and conserved charges derived from the gravitational action. *Phys. Rev.*, D47:1407–1419, 1993.
- [23] J. Callan, Curtis G., S. B. Giddings, J. A. Harvey, and A. Strominger. Evanescent black holes. *Phys. Rev.*, D45:1005–1009, 1992.
- [24] J. Callan, Curtis G., E. Martinec, M. Perry, and D. Friedan. Strings in Background Fields. Nucl. Phys., B262:593, 1985.
- [25] S. Carlip. Is Quantum Gravity Necessary? Class. Quant. Grav., 25:154010, 2008.
- [26] S. M. Carroll. Lecture notes on general relativity. 1997.
- [27] S. M. Carroll. The Cosmological constant. Living Rev. Rel., 4:1, 2001.
- [28] S. M. Carroll. Spacetime and geometry: An introduction to general relativity. Prentice Hall, 2004.
- [29] B. Carter. Killing horizons and orthogonally transitive groups in space-time. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 10:70, 1969.
- [30] B. Carter. Black hole equilibrium states. *Black holes*, pages 57–214, 1973.
- [31] A. Castro, D. Grumiller, F. Larsen, and R. McNees. Holographic Description of AdS(2) Black Holes. JHEP, 0811:052, 2008.
- [32] A. Chamblin, R. Emparan, C. V. Johnson, and R. C. Myers. Charged AdS black holes and catastrophic holography. *Phys. Rev.*, D60:064018, 1999.
- [33] S. Christensen and M. Duff. Quantum gravity in $2 + \epsilon$ dimensions. *Phys.Lett.*, B79:213, 1978.
- [34] P. T. Chrusciel, J. L. Costa, and M. Heusler. Stationary Black Holes: Uniqueness and Beyond. *Living Rev. Rel.*, 15:7, 2012.
- [35] K. Costello. Renormalization and Effective Field Theory. American Mathematical Soc., Heidelberg, 2011.
- [36] L. C. Crispino, A. Higuchi, and G. E. Matsas. The Unruh effect and its applications. *Rev.Mod.Phys.*, 80:787–838, 2008.
- [37] M. Cvetic, G. Gibbons, D. Kubiznak, and C. Pope. Black Hole Enthalpy and an Entropy Inequality for the Thermodynamic Volume. *Phys. Rev.*, D84:024037, 2011.
- [38] J. L. Davis and R. McNees. Boundary counterterms and the thermodynamics of 2-D black holes. JHEP, 0509:072, 2005.
- [39] J. de Boer, E. P. Verlinde, and H. L. Verlinde. On the holographic renormalization group. *JHEP*, 0008:003, 2000.
- [40] S. de Haro, K. Skenderis, and S. N. Solodukhin. Gravity in warped compactifications and the holographic stress tensor. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 18:3171–3180, 2001.
- [41] S. Deser, R. Arnowitt, and C. Misner. Consistency of Canonical Reduction of General Relativity. J.Math.Phys., 1:434, 1960.
- [42] S. Deser, R. Arnowitt, and C. Misner. Heisenberg Representation in Classical General Relativity. *Nuovo Cim.*, 19:668, 1961.
- [43] B. P. Dolan. Pressure and volume in the first law of black hole thermodynamics. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 28:235017, 2011.

- [44] B. P. Dolan. The Cosmological Constant and black hole Thermodynamic Potentials. Class. Quant. Grav., 28:125020, 2011.
- [45] B. P. Dolan. Where is the PdV term in the first law of black hole thermodynamics? 2012.
- [46] B. P. Dolan, D. Kastor, D. Kubiznak, R. B. Mann, and J. Traschen. Thermodynamic Volumes and Isoperimetric Inequalities for de Sitter Black Holes. *Phys. Rev.*, D87:104017, 2013.
- [47] S. Droz, M. Heusler, and N. Straumann. New black hole solutions with hair. *Phys.Lett.*, B268:371–376, 1991.
- [48] E. Dyer and K. Hinterbichler. Boundary Terms, Variational Principles and Higher Derivative Modified Gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D79:024028, 2009.
- [49] A. Einstein. Hamilton's Principle and the General Theory of Relativity. Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.), 1916:1111–1116, 1916.
- [50] R. Emparan, C. V. Johnson, and R. C. Myers. Surface terms as counterterms in the AdS / CFT correspondence. *Phys. Rev.*, D60:104001, 1999.
- [51] H. Friedrich, I. Racz, and R. M. Wald. On the rigidity theorem for space-times with a stationary event horizon or a compact Cauchy horizon. *Commun.Math.Phys.*, 204:691–707, 1999.
- [52] R. Gastmans, R. Kallosh, and C. Truffin. Quantum Gravity Near Two-Dimensions. Nucl. Phys., B133:417, 1978.
- [53] G. Gibbons and S. Hawking. Action Integrals and Partition Functions in Quantum Gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D15:2752–2756, 1977.
- [54] G. Gibbons, S. Hawking, and M. Perry. Path integrals and the indefiniteness of the gravitational action. *Nuclear Physics B*, 138(1):141 – 150, 1978.
- [55] A. Gomberoff, M. Henneaux, and C. Teitelboim. Turning the cosmological constant into black holes, 2001.
- [56] A. Gomberoff, M. Henneaux, C. Teitelboim, and F. Wilczek. Thermal decay of the cosmological constant into black holes. *Phys. Rev.*, D69:083520, 2004.
- [57] M. H. Goroff and A. Sagnotti. The Ultraviolet Behavior of Einstein Gravity. Nucl. Phys., B266:709, 1986.
- [58] J. Govaerts and S. Zonetti. Quantized cosmological constant in 1+1 dimensional quantum gravity with coupled scalar matter. *Class.Quant.Grav.*, 28:185001, 2011.
- [59] J. Govaerts and S. Zonetti. Quantum gravity and the cosmological constant: lessons from two-dimensional dilaton gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D87:084016, 2013.
- [60] D. Gross, M. Perry, and L. Yaffe. Instability of flat space at finite temperature. *Phys. Rev.*, D25:330–355, 1982.
- [61] D. Grumiller. *Quantum dilaton gravity in two-dimensions with matter*. PhD thesis, University of Technology, Vienna, 2001.
- [62] D. Grumiller. The Volume of 2-D black holes. J. Phys. Conf. Ser., 33:361–366, 2006.
- [63] D. Grumiller. Path integral for half-binding potentials as quantum mechanical analog for black hole partition functions. In Path integrals: New trends and perspectives. Proceedings, 9th International Conference, PI07, Dresden, Germany, pages 236–241, 2007.

- [64] D. Grumiller and R. Jackiw. Duality in 2-dimensional dilaton gravity. *Phys.Lett.*, B642:530–534, 2006.
- [65] D. Grumiller and R. Jackiw. Liouville gravity from Einstein gravity, 2007.
- [66] D. Grumiller, W. Kummer, and D. Vassilevich. Dilaton gravity in two-dimensions. *Phys.Rept.*, 369:327–430, 2002.
- [67] D. Grumiller, R. B. Mann, and R. McNees. Dirichlet boundary value problem for Chern-Simons modified gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D78:081502, 2008.
- [68] D. Grumiller and R. McNees. Thermodynamics of black holes in two (and higher) dimensions. JHEP, 0704:074, 2007.
- [69] D. Grumiller and P. van Nieuwenhuizen. Holographic counterterms from local supersymmetry without boundary conditions. *Phys.Lett.*, B682:462–465, 2010.
- [70] S. Hawking. Gravitational radiation from colliding black holes. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 26:1344–1346, 1971.
- [71] S. Hawking. Black hole explosions. Nature, 248:30–31, 1974.
- [72] S. Hawking. Particle Creation by Black Holes. Commun.Math.Phys., 43:199–220, 1975.
- [73] S. Hawking and D. N. Page. Thermodynamics of Black Holes in anti-De Sitter Space. Commun.Math.Phys., 87:577, 1983.
- [74] S. W. Hawking. The path-integral approach to quantum gravity. In S. Hawking and W. Israel, editors, *General relativity: an Einstein centenary survey*. Cambridge University Press, 1979.
- [75] S. W. Hawking and G. F. R. Ellis. The large scale structure of space-time, volume 1. Cambridge university press, 1973.
- [76] I. Heemskerk and J. Polchinski. Holographic and Wilsonian Renormalization Groups. JHEP, 1106:031, 2011.
- [77] M. Henneaux and C. Teitelboim. The Cosmological Constant as a Canonical Variable. *Phys.Lett.*, B143:415–420, 1984.
- [78] M. Henneaux and C. Teitelboim. Asymptotically anti-De Sitter Spaces. Commun.Math.Phys., 98:391–424, 1985.
- [79] M. Henneaux and C. Teitelboim. The cosmological constant and general covariance. *Phys.Lett.*, B222:195–199, 1989.
- [80] M. Heusler, S. Droz, and N. Straumann. Stability analysis of selfgravitating skyrmions. *Phys.Lett.*, B271:61–67, 1991.
- [81] M. Heusler, S. Droz, and N. Straumann. Linear stability of Einstein Skyrme black holes. *Phys.Lett.*, B285:21–26, 1992.
- [82] W. Israel. Third law of black-hole dynamics: a formulation and proof. *Physical review letters*, 57(4):397–399, 1986.
- [83] V. Iyer and R. M. Wald. Some properties of Noether charge and a proposal for dynamical black hole entropy. *Phys. Rev.*, D50:846–864, 1994.
- [84] V. Iyer and R. M. Wald. A Comparison of Noether charge and Euclidean methods for computing the entropy of stationary black holes. *Phys. Rev.*, D52:4430–4439, 1995.

- [85] R. Jackiw. Liouville Field Theory: a Two-Dimensional Model for Gravity? In S. Christensen, editor, *Quantum Theory of Gravity*, pages 403–420. Adam Hilger, Bristol, 1984.
- [86] T. Jacobson. Thermodynamics of space-time: The Einstein equation of state. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 75:1260–1263, 1995.
- [87] R. M. J.D. Brown, J. Creighton. Temperature, energy, and heat capacity of asymptotically anti-de sitter black holes. *Physical Review D*, 50(10):6394–6403, 1994.
- [88] D. Kastor. Komar Integrals in Higher (and Lower) Derivative Gravity. Class. Quant. Grav., 25:175007, 2008.
- [89] D. Kastor, S. Ray, and J. Traschen. Enthalpy and the Mechanics of AdS Black Holes. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 26:195011, 2009.
- [90] M. Katanaev and I. Volovich. String Model with Dynamical Geometry and Torsion. *Phys.Lett.*, B175:413–416, 1986.
- [91] R. P. Kerr. Gravitational field of a spinning mass as an example of algebraically special metrics. *Phys. Rev. Letters*, 11, 1963.
- [92] P. Kraus, F. Larsen, and R. Siebelink. The gravitational action in asymptotically AdS and flat space-times. *Nucl. Phys.*, B563:259–278, 1999.
- [93] M. Kruskal. Maximal extension of the schwarzschild metric. *Physical review*, 119(5), 1960.
- [94] D. Kubiznak and R. B. Mann. P-V criticality of charged AdS black holes. JHEP, 1207:033, 2012.
- [95] A. Larranaga and S. Mojica. Geometric Thermodynamics of Kerr-AdS black hole with a Cosmological Constant as State Variable. *Abraham Zelmanov J.*, 5:68–77, 2012.
- [96] M. Li, X.-D. Li, S. Wang, and Y. Wang. Dark Energy. Commun. Theor. Phys., 56:525–604, 2011.
- [97] J. M. Maldacena. The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 2:231–252, 1998.
- [98] R. B. Mann and D. Marolf. Holographic renormalization of asymptotically flat spacetimes. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 23:2927–2950, 2006.
- [99] R. B. Mann, D. Marolf, R. McNees, and A. Virmani. On the Stress Tensor for Asymptotically Flat Gravity. *Class.Quant.Grav.*, 25:225019, 2008.
- [100] R. B. Mann and R. McNees. Boundary Terms Unbound! Holographic Renormalization of Asymptotically Linear Dilaton Gravity. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 27:065015, 2010.
- [101] D. Martelli and W. Mueck. Holographic renormalization and Ward identities with the Hamilton-Jacobi method. Nucl. Phys., B654:248–276, 2003.
- [102] J. Mattingly. Is Quantum Gravity Necessary? *Einstein Stud.*, 11:327–338, 2005.
- [103] V. Mukhanov. On the origin of black-hole entropy. Foundations of Physics, 33(2):271–277, 2003.
- [104] Y. Nakayama. Liouville field theory: A Decade after the revolution. Int.J.Mod.Phys., A19:2771–2930, 2004.
- [105] H. Nastase. Introduction to AdS-CFT. 2007.

- [106] E. T. Newman, E. Couch, K. Chinnapared, A. Exton, A. Prakash, and R. Torrence. Metric of a rotating, charged mass. *Journal of mathematical physics*, 6:918, 1965.
- [107] M. Niedermaier and M. Reuter. The Asymptotic Safety Scenario in Quantum Gravity. Living Rev. Rel., 9:5, 2006.
- [108] G. Nordström. On the energy of the gravitation field in einstein's theory. Koninklijke Nederlandse Akademie van Weteschappen Proceedings Series B Physical Sciences, 20:1238–1245, 1918.
- [109] T. Padmanabhan. Cosmological constant: The Weight of the vacuum. Phys.Rept., 380:235–320, 2003.
- [110] I. Papadimitriou and K. Skenderis. AdS / CFT correspondence and geometry. In O. Biquard, editor, AdS/CFT correspondence: Einstein metrics and their conformal boundaries., pages 73–101, 2005.
- [111] I. Papadimitriou and K. Skenderis. Thermodynamics of asymptotically locally AdS spacetimes. JHEP, 0508:004, 2005.
- [112] S. Perlmutter et al. Measurements of Omega and Lambda from 42 high redshift supernovae. Astrophys. J., 517:565–586, 1999.
- [113] J. Polchinski. String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string. Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- [114] I. Rácz and R. M. Wald. Global extensions of spacetimes describing asymptotic final states of black holes. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 13(3):539, 1996.
- [115] T. Regge and C. Teitelboim. Role of surface integrals in the hamiltonian formulation of general relativity. Annals Phys., 88:286, 1974.
- [116] H. Reissner. Über die eigengravitation des elektrischen feldes nach der einsteinschen theorie. Annalen der Physik, 355(9):106–120, 1916.
- [117] A. G. Riess et al. Observational evidence from supernovae for an accelerating universe and a cosmological constant. Astron. J., 116:1009–1038, 1998.
- [118] C. Rovelli. Notes for a brief history of quantum gravity. pages 742–768, 2000.
- [119] K. Schwarzschild. Ueber das Gravitationsfeld eines Massenpunktes nach der Einsteinschen Theorie. Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.), 1916:189–196, 1916.
- [120] J. S. Schwinger. On gauge invariance and vacuum polarization. Phys. Rev., 82:664–679, 1951.
- [121] L. Smarr. Mass formula for Kerr black holes. Phys. Rev. Lett., 30:71–73, 1973.
- [122] J. Solà. Cosmological constant and vacuum energy: old and new ideas. J.Phys.Conf.Ser., 453:012015, 2013.
- [123] S. N. Solodukhin. Entanglement entropy of black holes. Living Rev. Rel., 14:8, 2011.
- [124] A. Strominger. Black hole entropy from near horizon microstates. JHEP, 9802:009, 1998.
- [125] D. Sudarsky and R. M. Wald. Extrema of mass, stationarity, and staticity, and solutions to the Einstein Yang-Mills equations. *Phys. Rev.*, D46:1453–1474, 1992.
- [126] L. Susskind. The World as a hologram. J.Math. Phys., 36:6377–6396, 1995.

- [127] G. Szekeres. On the singularities of a riemannian manifold. Publicationes Mathematicae Debrecen 7, 285 (1960), 7:285, 1960.
- [128] G. 't Hooft. Dimensional reduction in quantum gravity, 1993.
- [129] G. 't Hooft and M. Veltman. One loop divergencies in the theory of gravitation. Annales Poincare Phys. Theor., A20:69–94, 1974.
- [130] C. Teitelboim. The Hamiltonian Structure of Two-Dimensional Space-Time and its Relation with the Conformal Anomaly. In S. Christensen, editor, *Quantum Theory of Gravity*, pages 327–344. Adam Hilger, Bristol, 1984.
- [131] C. Teitelboim. The cosmological constant as a thermodynamic black hole parameter. *Phys.Lett.*, B158:293–297, 1985.
- [132] D. Tong. String Theory, 2009.
- [133] P. Townsend. Black holes: Lecture notes, 1997.
- [134] J. H. Traschen. Constraints on Stress Energy Perturbations in General Relativity. *Phys. Rev.*, D31:283, 1985.
- [135] J. H. Traschen and D. Fox. Tension perturbations of black brane space-times. Class. Quant. Grav., 21:289–306, 2004.
- [136] W. Unruh. Notes on black hole evaporation. *Phys. Rev.*, D14:870, 1976.
- [137] A. Virmani. Asymptotic Flatness, Taub-NUT, and Variational Principle. Phys. Rev., D84:064034, 2011.
- [138] R. Wald. Gedankenexperiments to destroy a black hole. Annals of Physics, 82(2):548–556, 1974.
- [139] R. M. Wald. *General relativity*. University of Chicago press, 1984.
- [140] R. M. Wald. Black hole entropy is the Noether charge. *Phys.Rev.*, D48:3427–3431, 1993.
- [141] R. M. Wald. Quantum field theory in curved spacetime and black hole thermodynamics. University of Chicago Press, 1994.
- [142] R. M. Wald. The 'Nernst theorem' and black hole thermodynamics. *Phys. Rev.*, D56:6467–6474, 1997.
- [143] R. M. Wald. The thermodynamics of black holes. *Living Rev. Rel.*, 4:6, 2001.
- [144] S. Wang. Thermodynamics of Schwarzschild de Sitter spacetimes: Variable cosmological constant. 2006.
- [145] S. Weinberg. Ultraviolet divergences in quantum theories of gravitation. In Steven Hawking, Werner Israel, editor, *General relativity: an Einstein centenary survey*, volume 1, pages 790–831. Cambridge University Press, 1979.
- [146] S. Weinberg. The Cosmological Constant Problem. Rev. Mod. Phys., 61:1–23, 1989.
- [147] J. York, James W. Role of conformal three geometry in the dynamics of gravitation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 28:1082–1085, 1972.
- [148] J. W. York. Black hole thermodynamics and the Euclidean Einstein action. Phys. Rev., D33:2092–2099, 1986.